## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

9-13-2021 1:00 PM

# The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder

Jasmine D. Cakmak, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Palaniyappan, Lena, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Vasudev, Akshya, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Anazodo, Udunna, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Neuroscience © Jasmine D. Cakmak 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Behavioral Neurobiology Commons, Mental Disorders Commons, Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons, and the Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Cakmak, Jasmine D., "The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder" (2021). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 8143. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8143

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder

### Abstract

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a highly debilitating neuropsychiatric illness which has been linked with increases in both peripheral and central inflammation, as well as with changes in connectivity. Although countless studies have investigated these two topics, the relationship between neuroinflammation and functional/structural connectivity has not been explored. Using [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA PET imaging, we measured translocator protein-related (TSPO) microglial activity in the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sgACC) and insula and confirmed significantly increased [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake in depressed patients (N=12) compared to healthy controls (N=23). Using a seed-based ROI analysis of fMRI data, we found that patients show overall decreased connectivity between the sgACC and the insula. To test the relationship between inflammation and brain connectivity, we performed regressions which found functional (sgACC-insula) and structural (cingulum bundle) connectivity to be significant factors in explaining the microglial activity in the left sgACC. Our study suggests that neuroinflammation relates to network function in MDD.

### **Keywords**

Major Depressive Disorder, Depression, Late-Life Depression, Neuroinflammation, [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA, Positron Emission Tomography (PET), Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), Microglia, PET/MR, Neuroinflammation; Functional connectivity; Treatmentresistance; Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI); White Matter Integrity

### **Summary for Lay Audience**

Major depressive disorder is a brain illness which affects many people worldwide. The main symptoms are depressed mood and loss of pleasure, with additional symptoms such as lack of concentration and fatigue. Previous studies have shown that there are a variety of reasons why depression could occur, but the focus of the current thesis is the inflammation hypothesis. In the brain, when the inflammatory response is activated, microglia, the resident immune cells in the brain, will become activated. Microglia influence the body's inflammatory response, and their activation can be measured through positron emission tomography (PET) imaging of a protein on their surface. It has been shown in the past that certain areas of the brain have greater microglial activity in depression.

The functioning of different brain areas also plays a role in the development of depression. The simultaneous activation of areas such as the anterior cingulate cortex and the insula can be disrupted due to depression; this simultaneous activation represents an activation-related connectivity between the regions. Those two areas are involved in mood and self-examination. We can measure levels of activation of specific brain areas with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). What we do not know is how disrupted brain connectivity is related to microglial activity in these areas.

The first goal of this thesis was to measure brain inflammation through microglial activity, particularly in areas noted by other studies. The second goal was to measure brain connectivity between these areas in the brain. The third goal was to see if brain connectivity and microglial activity are related in any way. We expected increased inflammation and decreased brain activity in depressed individuals. We also expected that they would be related to one another.

We found that, as we predicted, in these brain areas inflammation was increased and brain activity was decreased in depression. We next found that brain connectivity is related to inflammation. We believe that the continuous study of the neurological basis for depression will help physicians and pharmaceutical scientists develop new and more specific treatments to better the lives of the many of those who suffer from depression worldwide.

iii

### **Co-Authorship Statement**

This thesis was adapted from "The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder," a manuscript submitted to the Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience and co-authored by Jasmine D. Cakmak, Linshan Liu, Stefan Poirier, Betsy Schaefer, Dr. Amer M. Burhan, Dr. Priyadharshini Sabesan, Dr. Raju Poolacherla, Dr. Elizabeth Finger, Dr. Justin W. Hicks, Dr. Jean Théberge, Dr. Keith St. Lawrence, Dr. Lena Palaniyappan, and Dr. Udunna C. Anazodo. Jasmine D. Cakmak performed PET and fMRI data preprocessing, statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript. Drs. Udunna Anazodo and Lena Palaniyappan collected data. Dr. Udunna Anazodo and Linshan Liu assisted in PET analysis through writing of Matlab scripts and PET image reconstruction. Stefan E. Poirier completed the DTI data processing and value extraction. Betsy Schaefer recruited participants for the study. Dr. Poolacherla assisted in data acquisition. Dr. Sabesan participated in recruitment and clinical data acquisition. Dr. Justin W. Hicks synthesized [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA for the study. Dr. Burhan aided in recruitment and clinical data acquisition. Dr. Théberge and Dr. Anazodo assisted in data acquisition. Dr. Palaniyappan and Dr. Finger assisted with recruitment. Funding was secured by Dr. St. Lawrence, Dr. Théberge, Dr. Palaniyappan (Lawson Strategic Research Fund), Dr. Finger, and Dr. Anazodo (as a co-investigator for the FTD study for controls). Dr. Lena Palaniyappan, Dr. Jean Théberge, Dr. Anazodo, Dr. St. Lawrence, Dr. Finger, and Dr. Burhan conceptualized the experiment. Dr. Udunna Anazodo and Dr. Lena Palaniyappan supervised the data analyses and the final draft. All co-authors participated in review and editing of the manuscript.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to my supervisors Dr. Lena Palaniyappan, Dr. Akshya Vasudev, and Dr. Udunna Anazodo for sticking by me for the last two years. I know that circumstances were not ideal due to the pandemic, but you believed in me even when I did not believe in myself. Frankly, that is something rare for me and I cannot express how meaningful your kind words and actions have been. You have all inspired me to continue what I love doing. A special thank you to Dr. Udunna Anazodo for taking me in at the last minute when my plans were changed by the pandemic. You have been supportive to the nth degree with an inexhaustible amount of hospitality and consideration, and your expertise has made every step of this project easier.

Thank you to my advisory committee members, Dr. Jean Théberge and Dr. Ruth Lanius for your guidance during the entire process of writing this thesis. Your knowledge has been invaluable to me.

Thank you to all the co-authors of the paper. Without you I wouldn't have any data in the first place.

Thank you to all my lab mates who helped me along the way. Thank you to Linshan Liu for dealing with my millions of questions because I was new to PET imaging. Without you I don't know where I would be in my research (probably months behind). Thank you to everyone in the MIND Lab, particularly Stefan Poirier for all the help with the DTI data. Thanks to my NIMI lab mates for always being around for a laugh pre-COVID and for helping me whenever I needed it. You have all been reenergizing me every week at the lab meetings.

Thank you to my family and friends for listening to me when I thought I was going crazy from stress. My anxiety is unforgiving, but you were all there to help me through it.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my wonderful partner Aya, without whom I would not be writing this. Thank you for keeping me going through the toughest part of my life (again). You always manage to lift me up when I'm in the darkest of places. Thank you for helping me realize what a simple thing it is to be happy. Thank you for being you.

v

# **Table of Contents**

Summary for Lay Audience Co-Authorship Statement	iii
Co-Authorship Statement	:
	<i>IV</i>
Acknowledgements	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	viii
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	viii
List of Appendices	x
1 Depression, Its Burden, and the Knowledge Gap	1
1.1 Clinical Symptoms of Depression	1
1.1.1 Major Depressive Disorder (MDD)	1
1.1.2 Impact of MDD	2
1.1.3 Late-Life Depression (LLD)	3
1.1.4 Impact of LLD	4
1.1.5 Late-Life Depression vs. Adult Depression	4
1.2 Treatment of Depression	5
1.2.1 Treatment Options	5
1.2.2 Treatment-Resistant Depression	6
1.3 Explaining Depression – Inflammation as a Factor in its Development	8
1.4 The Anterior Cingulate Cortex and Insula as Important Nodes of Functional	
Connectivity in Depression	9
1.5 Findings Concerning Inflammation and Depression	12
1.5.1 Mechanisms of the Neuroinflammatory Response	12
1.5.2 Peripheral Inflammatory Markers	14
1.5.3 Blood Brain Barrier Permeability	16
1.5.4. Cytokines and Brain Activity	17
1.5.5 Late-Life Depression and Inflammation	19
1.5.6 Antidepressant Effects of Anti-inflammatory Agents	19
1.5.7 Treatment Resistance and Inflammation 1.5.8 Microglia and Inflammation	20 21
1.6 Imaging the Mechanisms of Depression	23
1.6.1 In Vivo Measures of Inflammation	23
1.6.2 PET Imaging of Inflammation	24
1.6.3 In Vivo Imaging of Brain Network Connections	24
1.6.4 In Vivo Imaging of Brain Macrostructure Connections	25
1.7 Study Outline	27
1.7.1 Study Objectives	28
1.7.2 Study Hypotheses	28
1.8 References	29

2 The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberra Major Depressive Disorder	ant Microglial Activity in 44
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Participants	
2.2.2 PET/MR Imaging	
2.2.3 PET/MR Image Processing	
2.2.6 Statistical Analysis	
2.3 Results	51
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusions	
2.6 Acknowledgements	
2.7 References	
3 Conclusions	68
3.1 Summary	
3.2 Significance	
3.3 Limitations	70
3.4 Future Directions	72
3.5 Concluding Remarks	73
3.6 References	75
Appendix A Ethics Approval	76
Appendix B Clinical Evaluation	77
Curriculum Vitae	

...:

# **List of Tables**

Table 2.1. Participant demographics.

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1. Axial view of the insula and sgACC.

Figure 1.2. Kynurenine pathway of microglial activation – one of many contributors to neuroinflammation.

Figure 1.3. Cingulum bundle.

Figure 2.1. Differences in mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) per region of interest (ROI).

Figure 2.2. The relationship between mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) from the insula and HAM-D scores.

Figure 2.3. Differences in subgenual anterior cingulate cortex-insula functional connectivity.

Figure 2.4. The relationship between mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) and functional connectivity.

Figure 2.5. The relationship between microglial activity and structural connectivity.

# List of Symbols and Abbreviations

[ <sup>18</sup> F]FEPPA	[ <sup>18</sup> F]N-2-(fluoroethoxyl)benzyl-N-(4phenoxypyridin-3-
	yl)acetamide
3-HK	3-hydroxykynurenine
ACC	Anterior Cingulate Cortex
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic Hormone
AD	Axial Diffusivity
BBB	Blood Brain Barrier
BDI	Beck Depression Inventory
CGI-S	Clinical Global Impressions – Severity Scale
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
Cldn5	Claudin-5
CX3CR1	C-X3-C Motif Chemokine Receptor 1
dACC	Dorsal Anterior Cingulate Cortex
DLPFC	Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex

DMPFC	Dorsomedial Prefrontal Cortex
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5
DTI	Diffusion Tensor Imaging
DWI	Diffusion Weighted Imaging
ECT	Electroconvulsive Therapy
EEG	Electroencephalography
FA	Fractional Anisotropy
FDG	Fluorodeoxyglucose
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
FWHM	Full Width Half Maximum
GDS	Geriatric Depression Scale
HAM-D	Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression
HPA	Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3 Dioxygenase
IFN-α	Interferon-Alpha
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 $\hat{\beta}$
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
KAT	Kynurenic Acid
КМО	Kynurenine-3-monooxygenase
KYN	Kynurenine
KYNA	Kynurenine Aminotransferase
LLD	Late-Life Depression
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MCP1	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1
MCP4	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 4
MD	Mean Diffusivity
MDD	Major Depressive Disorder
MDE	Major Depressive Episode
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MPFC	Medial Prefrontal Cortex
MR	Magnetic Resonance
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
Nac	Nucleus Accumbens
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
PSF	Point Spread Function
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid
QUIN	Quinolinic Acid
RD	Radial Diffusivity
RF	Radio Frequency
ROI	Region of Interest
rSUV	Relative Standardized Uptake Value
rTMS	Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation
sgACC	Subgenual Anterior Cingulate Cortex

SNRI	Selective Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors
sTNF-R2	Soluble Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 2
SUV	Standardized Uptake Value
TBSS	Tract-Based Spatial Statistics
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
TRD	Treatment-Resistant Depression
TRLLD	Treatment-Resistant Late-Life Depression
TRP	Tryptophan
TSPO	Translocator Protein
VMPFC	Ventral Medial Prefrontal Cortex
WM	White Matter

**List of Appendices** Appendix A Ethics Approval Appendix B Clinical Evaluation

# Chapter 1

### 1 Depression, Its Burden, and the Knowledge Gap

This thesis contains research pertaining to the etiology of major depressive disorder (MDD), a highly debilitating mental illness. Mental illnesses negatively impact an individual's mood, thoughts, or behaviour, leading to distress and impairment in daily activities. Depression is the most common of all mental illnesses and the leading cause of disability worldwide, having a lifetime prevalence of 20.6% in the US and 11.2% in Canada, and while manageable when treated, can have serious implications for quality of life when left unmanaged (1,2). There exists no one-size-fits-all cure for MDD; it is hypothesized that many different physiological pathways can contribute to its etiopathology. Modern treatment options rely on symptom management and include a combination of medication (selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors etc.) and psychotherapies. Despite the various options that are available, many patients develop a treatment-resistant state. In part, resistance may relate to our failure to address the mechanistic processes that underlie the illness. This thesis is an attempt to investigate one such pathway – neuroinflammation – in MDD. Several lines of clinical research on neurobiological pathways of depression, reviewed below, point toward depression being a systemic disorder with an inflammatory basis. The aim of this work is to fill the knowledge gap linking the notion of neuroinflammation to depressive symptoms and behaviours mediated by dysfunctional brain networks.

#### **1.1 Clinical Symptoms of Depression**

#### 1.1.1 Major Depressive Disorder (MDD)

MDD is a psychiatric illness which tends to run a remitting and relapsing course. It is common to experience multiple episodes; about 75% of individuals who have experienced a single episode of MDD will experience two or more at different points throughout life. With each subsequent episode, the risk of having another one increases

exponentially, while the time between each episode decreases (3,4). For an individual who has had at least one episode, the average number of MDD episodes is four, and each episode has an average length of twenty weeks (5,6). To be diagnosed with MDD, as defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5 (DSM-5), one must have at least five of the following symptoms, with one of them being either depressed mood or loss of pleasure: depressed most of the day; diminished pleasure in activities all day or most of the day, every day; weight loss or weight gain without dieting or increase/decrease in appetite nearly every day; insomnia or hypersomnia almost every day; psychomotor agitation or retardation; fatigue; feelings of worthlessness or guilt; diminished ability to think; and recurrent thoughts of death or suicide ideation. The symptoms must cause distress or impairment in living and completing regular tasks, and the individual must not have experienced a manic episode. Each case of depression presents a varied combination of symptoms, and varied trajectories of outcomes, which has led to the notion that multiple distinct etiologies exist for this condition. For example, some with depressed mood may have pathophysiology associated with the medial prefrontal cortex, while others with predominant anhedonia and alterations in motivation may show a decrease in dopaminergic activity in the mesocortico-limbic pathway (7,8). These pathophysiological changes may also coexist in the same individual and may fluctuate over the illness course.

#### 1.1.2 Impact of MDD

Depression affects over 168 million people around the globe, two thirds of whom are women, being one of the major contributors to reduced quality of life (9,10). In Canada, about 8% of adults will have had at least one MDD episode throughout their lives (11). Individuals with MDD are more likely to be hospitalized and are at increased risk of suicide. As well, they are two times more at risk of unemployment than those without MDD (12–14).

Depression causes noteworthy economic and social burden; in Canada, mental health spending is projected to rise into the trillion dollar range by 2031 (15). Depression causes patients to become less productive; those with depression will lose 5.6 hours of productive time at work per week compared to non-depressed workers who will lose 1.6

hours (16). This equates to 225 million lost workdays and \$36.6 billion lost in salary per year in the US, and an additional cost of about \$32.3 billion per year to the Canadian economy (4,17).

The negative effects are not limited to the social, as depression increases rates of morbidity and mortality. The physical impairments seen in depression are of a similar magnitude to those in chronic diseases such as diabetes and cancer (18). Depression is correlated with a subsequent cardiovascular episode, its associated mortality, as well as with increases in risk for cardiovascular disease, stroke, and hypertension; the risk of any cardiovascular event increases by 20% in individuals with four or more depressive symptoms as compared to those without (19–25). Individuals with depression are eleven times more likely to attempt suicide than healthy individuals, and about one in ten will attempt suicide (14,26,27).

#### 1.1.3 Late-Life Depression (LLD)

While depression in the adult population has been somewhat better delineated, late-life depression (LLD) – depression occurring in an older population – is likely different in terms of etiopathogenesis and presentation. The specific criterion of age for LLD has not been widely agreed upon at this time, but the age of qualification for geriatric psychiatry-related services, i.e. greater than 65 years, has been considered to be most acceptable. The participants in the study were older (over the age of 50, with some over the age of 65), therefore the symptomatology specific to LLD should be considered. As is the case with MDD, individuals must have an episode lasting at least 2 weeks with one of the primary symptoms (anhedonia and depressed mood) and at least four of the secondary symptoms as previously described. The DSM-5 criteria seem to fail in diagnosis of late-life adults as complaints about failing bodily functions will be written off as expected for the age bracket (28). Help-seeking behaviour which comes in the form of persistent grievances with fatigue, pains, and headaches can be easily overlooked. As a result, depression in the elderly is underdiagnosed and undertreated. While there is growing interest in better defining LLD, there have simultaneously been attempts to develop screening tools to characterise LLD-specific symptoms of depression. Of these

the self-rated Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) has been validated in capturing some of the typical somatic symptoms experienced by patients suffering from LLD.

#### 1.1.4 Impact of LLD

More than 300,000 of the elderly in Canada are depressed, and this is associated with \$5 billion in health care costs per year -- a number which ever-growing in today's aging population (29). 1 in 10 of older adults are diagnosed with LLD at some point in their life (30). Older adults in the community with depression have a prevalence of 11.2%, but institutionalized older adults have even higher rates (30). 12-45% of LLD patients in hospitals reported symptoms of depression, and 12.4% of those in care homes had major depression (31,32). Those in care homes tend to be placed there as a consequence of caregivers becoming overwhelmed with the increasing demand and mental load needed for elderly care.

LLD is associated with both non-suicide and suicide mortality in older adults (33,34). In a Statistics Canada study, it was found that 19% of the suicide victims in Canada were over the age of 60, and of those men made up the majority. LLD patients may be more likely to commit suicide through more violent and deadly means, with 26% of suicide victims over 60 using firearms compared to only 12% of those aged 15-39 (35).

#### 1.1.5 Late-Life Depression vs. Adult Depression

LLD is symptomatically distinct from adult depression, with LLD patients, for example, having a pronounced fear of falling (36,37). The stressors specific to late-life -- forced retirement, chronic illness, cognitive decline, social isolation, caregiving, financial distress, loss of independence, and bereavement -- can create an environment which leads to the development of LLD (38). Views towards life and death itself will be unique to older individuals as compared to those who are younger (39). Those with greater harm avoidance, insecure attachment, low extraversion, neuroticism, low self-esteem, no sense of greater purpose, no social roles, and lower education will be at greater risk for developing LLD. As well, those of the female sex and with nutritional deficits, especially in vitamin B12 and folates, will likewise be predisposed to depression (40).

Unlike depression associated with adult age, LLD is oftentimes comorbid with allcause dementia (1.85, 95% CI 1.67-2.04, P<0.001), Alzheimer's disease (1.65, 95% CI 1.42-1.92, P<0.001), and vascular dementia (2.52, 95% CI 1.77-3.59, P<0.001) (41). Depression can be a signalling factor for dementia, and some claim that LLD is a risk factor for mild cognitive impairment and neurodegenerative diseases (causation has not been determined in this case). Comorbidities with other medical illnesses in LLD can affect scores on rating scales; elevated scores for eight items from the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAMD, Hamilton, 1960) have been observed in individuals over the age of 70, likely due to such somatic comorbidities (42). In addition, it seems that the pathways underlying depression in older populations may differ. For example, white matter hyperintensities have been revealed to play some role in the development of depression while their presence in younger adults is uncommon (43). Despite knowledge of dissimilar physical symptoms in adult and late-life depression, differences between the treatment of these two groups have not been distinguished and refined, an oversight which has left many older adults with insufficient resources to manage their symptoms.

#### **1.2 Treatment of Depression**

#### 1.2.1 Treatment Options

The treatment of depression can be divided into three broad categories: medication, psychotherapy, and alternative treatments. For the purposes of this thesis, we will be focusing on the former. Each type of treatment can be offered alone, but it is recommended to receive them in combination to gain maximum benefit. Medications, or antidepressants, are the most relied-upon treatment and come with a variety of options. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are the most prescribed of the antidepressants. They act by blocking the reuptake of serotonin and therefore increase serotonin signalling. Other types of antidepressants such as serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), 5-HT1A receptor antagonists, and dopamine reuptake blockers function similarly with the basic principle of regulating levels of neurotransmitters (namely serotonin, norepinephrine, and dopamine) in the brain. Most common forms of antidepressants target monoaminergic mechanisms which were discovered many decades ago; no novel drug therapies have entered the market except for esketamine, a ketamine-derived glutamate receptor blocker which was FDA-approved in 2019, and agomelatine, a melatonin receptor agonist approved for use in Europe in 2009 and Australia in 2010. Interestingly, within the last decade the monoaminergic hypothesis of SSRIs has been questioned, and has even been speculated that their mechanism of actions may hinge upon anti-inflammatory pathways (44).

Anti-inflammatory approaches have been considered for the treatment of depression as either add-ons or monotherapy (to be further discussed in Section 1.5.6) (45). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), the most studied of the anti-inflammatory drugs, have been found to have anti-depressant effects when compared to placebos and are inexpensive and easy to obtain (46). Their effectiveness relies upon the ability to reduce prostaglandins. One class of NSAIDs, selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, are considered to have a more direct anti-inflammatory effect than other classes and therefore are more effective as treatments for depression (47–49). NSAIDs, however, may increase the risk of cardiovascular events (45,50). Cytokine-inhibitors, which target cytokine synthesis, concentration, or related receptors, have a direct anti-depressant effect, although they may increase the risk of infection (46,51). Other groups of anti-inflammatory drugs which have shown anti-depressant effects include but are not limited to statins, corticosteroids, and poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) (45).

Despite the potential promise, it is not clear who should receive this treatment and the overall response rate is minimal as we are not able to stratify patients with neuroinflammation from those who do not have such inflammatory processes; furthermore, it is not clear how inflammation, which is generally a short-lived, constrained defence process, can lead to pervasive depression in those affected. This mechanistic understanding will help us identify the profile of inflammatory depression as well as aid in developing more empirically informed therapies. Moreover, the above treatments, inclusive of antidepressants, may not eliminate the risk of relapse, worsening of symptoms, or treatment-resistance.

#### 1.2.2 Treatment-Resistant Depression

The ultimate aim regarding the above therapies is for the patient to achieve full recovery– the almost complete absence of burdensome symptoms. However, while they can be effective for many individuals, antidepressants can have little to no effect in some. Of those who receive "adequate" treatment for MDD, about 70% will respond to treatment, yet only 50% will fully recover; the remaining patients will not respond at all (52,53). Other studies suggest that this value is even lower, with only 30% reaching the goal of full remission, and those previously classified as responsive experiencing residual symptoms such as fatigue and insomnia, contributing to increased risk of relapse (54–56).

Those who do not sufficiently respond are referred to as having treatment-resistant depression (TRD). No consistent definition of this phenomenon exists, and clinicians may diagnose a patient if they do not respond to antidepressants whatsoever, or if they do not reach full remission after adequate dosing and course duration. Despite these differences, a concurrence between each definition is that to be diagnosed with TRD, one must fail to adequately respond to at least 2 courses of different antidepressants within an appropriate period of time.

Of those who respond minimally, treatment resistance may arise from being prescribed a suboptimal dose, an unsuitable medication course, or discontinuing medication altogether. This is further complicated by comorbidities with illnesses such as anxiety and the heterogenous nature of depression itself, which make it difficult to develop universally effective treatments. Misdiagnosis due to these factors is not uncommon, and the inconsistency in TRD's definition contributes to improper prescriptions of pharmacotherapies.

The disregard for the disparity in symptomatology and disease progression between adult and late-life depression makes this issue even more pressing for the elderly. Atypical symptoms, somatization, cognitive decline, lack of education about drug therapies, and a lack of support from family can all contribute to cases of treatmentresistant late-life depression (TRLLD) (57). The spectrum of possible depressive symptoms in older adults can range to bodily complaints such as stomach-aches and palpitations, present in about 20-80% of older patients but not commonly described in younger patients, leading to the belief that these individuals are experiencing side effects and therefore prematurely stopping treatment (28). While the response rates for older adults are similar to those below the age of 50, it has been shown that the same cannot always be said about the time course. In the first 6-12 weeks of treatment, over 80% of those with TRLLD will fail to respond sufficiently or will experience early relapse (58,59).

TRD is immeasurably onerous for those it affects. An inability to find relief from its physical and mental demands is taxing. It is easy to forget about the financial burden: those with TRD will be subject to increased medical costs compared to those who respond to treatment (60). They are more likely to be hospitalized and their hospital visits are six times the cost of a treatment-sensitive individual (61). It becomes apparent that establishing concrete means of diagnosing TRD and TRLLD is incredibly important.

#### **1.3 Explaining Depression – Inflammation as a Factor in its Development**

Social as well as biological factors such as genetics, aging, and physical diseases appear to have an effect on one's mental health. The interplay between all of these factors and the degree of their severity may ultimately be what leads to depression, but the impact of each alone cannot be discounted (62). Predisposing factors may act on brain systems such as the frontolimbic networks and may bring about the vulnerability for depression, and promote chronicity and relapse (63). Etiological factors such as vascular changes, amyloid deposits, inflammation, and genetics may cause direct damage to reward, salience, and cognitive control networks, or may further increase the severity of the predisposing factors. Social stressors may lead to inflammation, oxidative stress, altered functional connectivity, or neurogenesis (64). These stressors may impact the brain in the same way as aging or disease-related processes. Social withdrawal behaviours associated with depression are linked with a desensitization of the hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis due to dampening of a prolonged stress response (38). Stress may also lead to a direct neglect of health. All in all, the various ways through which depression may occur are diverse and numerous. The cause of depression cannot be explained by a single factor and requires a complete understanding of several interacting etiological factors. However, the mechanisms of each factor are still unclear and should be studied in depth in order to gain a better understanding of how each etiological factor

works independently or synergistically and additively with other factors to produce depression.

A widely considered mechanism for depression is neuroinflammation which is part of the body's immune response -- a line of defense against infection and injury. The immune response can be classified into two categories: innate or acquired. The innate system is driven by white blood cells, while the acquired system consists of an immunological memory involving antigens and T and B lymphocytes. The question of whether the immune response involved in depression, a component of which being inflammation, is acquired has long been debated, but research has shown that there are increased T cell factors, implicated in both innate and acquired responses, in depressed individuals, suggesting that both systems may be at play (65,66). Despite having some answers to this broad and undeniably elemental question, it is only a small facet of the system at large and is representative of the larger dilemma seen in this field: there is a current lack of understanding of the complexity of the relationship between inflammation and MDD.

Complicating the matter further, inflammation can occur throughout the body and is present in a number of conditions, such as allergies, autoimmune diseases, and infections. This is inclusive of depression, which seems to be the main neuropsychiatric illness explained by brain tissue inflammation, but brain inflammation may play a role in the aetiologies of several other brain illnesses including schizophrenia, Parkinson's, epilepsy, and Alzheimer's. The focus of this thesis is on neuroinflammation as a theory explaining the development of MDD. The following is an overview on neuroinflammation-related findings for MDD, including relevant tools for its measurement and mechanisms of action.

## **1.4 The Anterior Cingulate Cortex and Insula as Important Nodes of Functional Connectivity in Depression**

A variety of brain networks involved in processing of emotional information are thought to be relevant to the pathophysiology of depression. Two areas of the brain which have been repeatedly linked with response to and diagnosis of depression and have

displayed evidence of involvement in neuroinflammation (to be further discussed in Section 1.5.8) are the insula and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). The insula, an area with connectivity to depression-related regions, including the subgenual ACC (sgACC), which is involved in processing salient stimuli and regulating interoception (67,68), exhibits dysregulated functional connectivity (or temporal correlation with separate brain regions) in individuals with MDD (69-73). Such dysregulation has been associated with the development of a variety of cardinal features of MDD, including loss of pleasure (74–76). More precisely related to treatment of depression, its activity is altered as a result of depression treatment and can predict treatment outcomes. Antidepressants reduced insular activity (77,78) while regional cerebral blood flow in the insula was reduced with repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), a popular treatment for TRD (79). Additionally, the right anterior insula was identified as a key factor in responsiveness to CBT or antidepressants (80). In a particularly insightful study using the insula as a seed region, the effective connectivity, or the influence one neural system exerts over another (81), of the insula with the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (DMPFC) and from the pulvinar and visual cortex to the insula were shown to be diminished, which suggests a debilitated connection between the insula and higher processing as well as sensory regions in MDD (82).

Marrying the concept of treatment response and effective connectivity using rTMS, Iwabuchi et al. (2019) demonstrated that pre-treatment fronto-insular effective connectivity predicted response to rTMS treatment at 1 month in those with TRD, while right anterior insula cerebral blood flow was negatively correlated with the same treatment outcome, further cementing the insula's role in depression-involved brain networks (83). The above studies highlight the differential relationship the insula has with regions such as the DMPFC in MDD, a relationship which is modulated by treatment response, and how insula physiology can be improved with depression-targeted treatments.

Similarly, the ACC and sgACC are dysregulated in MDD, but interestingly, dysregulation of the sgACC's connectivity with the insula has been consistently reported in MDD (71,84–88). The sgACC's connectivity can be improved with and can predict the response to rTMS application to the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (89,90). This

is not limited to rTMS; the baseline functional connectivity between the sgACC and superior frontal/temporal gyrus, as well as between the sgACC and the middle temporal gyrus predicted electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) response (91). In 2018, Weigand et al. found that depressive symptom improvement was predicted by the functional connectivity between the sgACC and the DLPFC, solidifying the sgACC's importance in depression symptomatology and outcomes (92). Of relevance to the topic of the current study, increased sgACC activity can predict treatment resistance (93), and symptom improvement with, for example, ketamine, can normalize its hyperactivity (94). Such findings have made the insula and the ACC attractive targets for depression studies but there is still much left unexplained, especially regarding their role in neuroinflammation. In the current study, we focus on inflammation present in the sgACC and insula, and how this relates to their connectivity in MDD.



**Figure 1.1. Axial view of the insula and sgACC.** The right and left insula (yellow) are functionally connected to the left and right sgACC (red). We expect a weaker connectivity between the sgACC and insula in depressed individuals (associated with increased neuroinflammation) compared to healthy individuals.

#### **1.5 Findings Concerning Inflammation and Depression**

#### 1.5.1 Mechanisms of the Neuroinflammatory Response

There exist many inter-related theories as to how inflammation increases depressive symptoms, but for the purposes of this overview we will focus on three: HPA axis-modulated neuroendocrine dysfunction, infection, and microglial activation. The first of these theories involves the stress hormone system, the HPA axis. In response to stressors, the HPA axis signals for the release of glucocorticoids by the adrenal glands, which act on organs throughout the body to regulate physiological processes and have a negative feedback effect at various levels of the system (95). In depressed individuals, this system can become dysregulated, demonstrating higher sensitivity to hormones, particularly adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), and higher levels of glucocorticoids, which may be a result of disrupted negative feedback (96–100). Glucocorticoids are well known to have anti-inflammatory effects, notably through glucocorticoid receptormediated suppression of pro-inflammatory transcription factors, leading to decreased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (101–104). These immunosuppressive effects can also occur through interaction with proinflammatory signalling pathways and can induce destruction of immune cells such as T lymphocytes (105). Although the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids have been studied in depth, they can likewise have pro-inflammatory properties through, for example, interactions with pro-inflammatory cytokines, an effect which seems to be exacerbated by stress (106-109).

MDD is more highly prevalent in individuals with inflammation-related disorders – including but not limited to arthritis, cardiovascular diseases, multiple sclerosis, and diabetes – and it is possible that chronic systemic inflammation as a result of illness may contribute to MDD pathophysiology (110). When an individual becomes sick, they will experience a set of symptoms very similar to those of depression: fatigue, loss of motivation, anhedonia, and loss of pleasure, among others. This is categorized as "sickness behaviour," and while different from depression itself due to its short-lived presence (only as long as the illness lasts), such symptomatology suggests that individuals who do develop MDD may be more susceptible or have been subjected to an intense or

long-lasting inflammatory response which has continued beyond the illness duration (111,112). During an illness, proinflammatory cytokines are produced at the site of infection and can proliferate throughout the body, traveling to the brain to cause depression-like symptoms and depression disorders through means such as the neural pathway which can activate primary afferent nerves like the vagus nerve or the humoral pathway which involves the choroid plexus (113–117).

An additional pathway exists in the brain through which systemic inflammation can exert its effects, and that is by activating microglia in the brain, thereby triggering a neuroinflammatory state. Due to the significant mounting evidence and new means of measuring microglia *in vivo* in humans, we are currently interested in this final theory. Microglia are involved in the neuroinflammatory response by acting as macrophages and can be measured as a proxy for inflammation. While there are multiple methods through which their activation can occur, a specific example of a mechanism describing the activation of microglia and how this results in negative outcomes involves the activation of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO), which breaks down tryptophan (TRP), a serotonin precursor, into kynurenine (KYN) (Figure 1) (111,118–120). Serotonin is well-known as an essential monoamine neurotransmitter involved in mood and cognition, and formation of KYN bypasses the pathway through which it is formed. This process results in decreased serotonin, which is similar to what individuals injected with interferon alpha (IFN- $\alpha$ ), an inflammatory biomarker, who develop depression experience: decreased serotonin and increased KYN (121). KYN can also lead to the production of kynurenic acid in astrocytes and quinolinic acid in microglia (119). This has been implicated in causing oxidative stress, a process involving an increase in reactive oxygen species, leading to tissue damage (119,122). It has been reported that depressed suicide victims exhibit increased levels of quinolinic acid in the microglia of the ACC post-mortem (123). Those with chronic illnesses who are being treated with interferon alpha (IFN- $\alpha$ ) manifest decreased TRP, increased KYN and KYN/TRP ratio, and increased depression scores (124). Healthy individuals, when faced with an inflammatory challenge, experience an activated KYN pathway, as well as increased IDO (125,126). Injection of quinolinic acid precursor 3-hydroxykyneurinine (3-HK) into mice leads to depression-like behaviours, and inhibition of IDO through an IDO inhibitor reduces these behaviours

(126–129). While the KYN pathway is not the only one which is associated with microglia, it seems to be strongly involved in the neuroinflammatory condition of depressed individuals.



**Figure 1.2. Kynurenine pathway of microglial activation** – **one of many contributors to neuroinflammation.** Stress leads to increased inflammation in the body and brain, thereby increasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and leading to the activation of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) and kynurenine-3-monooxygenase (KMO). IDO breaks down tryptophan (TRP) into kynurenine (KYN) while KMO facilitates the production of 3-hydroxykyneurinine (3-HK), eventually leading to quinolinic acid (QUIN) in microglia and oxidative stress. Kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT) catalyses the conversion of KYN to kynurenic acid (KYNA) in astrocytes.

#### 1.5.2 Peripheral Inflammatory Markers

Measurements of peripheral inflammatory biomarkers are a simple method of assessing and confirming inflammation in the body. Inflammatory biomarkers, including but not limited to cytokines and acute phase proteins, are released by the body during immune processes and are exhibited in dysregulated amounts in those with neuropsychiatric illnesses. Previous studies over the last century have shown peripheral increases in proinflammatory cytokines like INF- $\alpha$  and interleukin-6 (IL-6) in depression (130). Other inflammatory markers which are elevated in depression include acute phase proteins, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and inflammatory mediators like prostaglandins. These elevated levels even occur in those without any other recorded illnesses and in post-mortem brain tissue samples (131). Peripheral blood markers interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), IL-6, tumour necrosis factor (TNF), and C-reactive protein (CRP) are the most reliable biomarkers of inflammation in individuals with MDD, as noted by numerous meta-analyses (130). Further, biomarkers such as TNF have been associated with genes involved in depression when involved in the immune response (132). Chronic elevation of these cytokines may lead to the adverse symptomatology of depression, and an increase in symptom severity is correlated with an increase in peripheral blood cytokine concentrations (133,134), although not every person with depression will have elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines (130,135,136). This can be attributed to the heterogenous nature of depression. All in all, increases in proinflammatory cytokines observed in depression are the most basic means through which inflammation has been linked to depression.

Levels of certain inflammatory biomarkers can be modulated using antidepressants. In a meta-analysis containing 22 different studies pertaining to antidepressant effect in MDD, it was found that IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 and depressive symptoms were decreased in those who had undertaken antidepressant therapy, expressly SSRIs (137). Wang et al. (2019) demonstrated that this is also the case with TNF (138). These studies effectively proffer a relationship between inflammatory markers and the expression of depression – a relationship which can be managed in part with therapies specifically targeting depression.

In addition to increased innate levels of proinflammatory cytokines, administration of these cytokines can induce depressive symptoms. Administration of innate human cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  can lead to psychosis, delirium, and agitation, while administration, both acutely and chronically, of cytokine inducer lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in healthy volunteers leads to an increase in symptoms of depression (111,133,134,139). Individuals with established medical conditions see similar results; peripheral cytokine levels are increased in those exhibiting depressive symptoms as a result of medical conditions, but who themselves were not originally clinically depressed (140,141). 35.6% of individuals with asthma experienced symptoms of depression, and those who were depressed had higher levels of TNF- $\alpha$  (142), while illness-induced increases in IL-6 and nuclear factor kappa B, which is involved in the initiation of the inflammatory response, are correlated with depressive symptoms such as fatigue and insomnia (143,144). These "sickness behaviours," as mentioned before, will disappear once the illness has ceased, but dysregulation of the inflammatory system may prolong their presence and this chronic exposure may contribute to MDD. In actuality, those with a medical illness are several times more likely to develop MDD (145).

In related experiments, blocking cytokines such as TNF or other units of the inflammatory pathway, such as COX-2, has resulted in a reduction of depressive symptoms in individuals with medical conditions such as arthritis and cancer, and in individuals with MDD (46,146). From these findings it is apparent that inflammation at the systemic level is deeply intertwined with depression symptomatology which lends credibility to the infection theory of inflammation. Again, this is not the case in every individual with increased inflammatory markers or an inflammatory medical condition, which suggests that a specific faction of individuals is vulnerable to inflammation-derived depression.

All this considered, the presence of inflammation alone is not enough to describe depression symptomatology. Inflammation is present in several neuropsychiatric illnesses including schizophrenia and obsessive-compulsive disorder, suggesting that it is possible inflammation has a multitude of neurological outcomes or a specific combination of biological factors must be present in order for the effects of inflammation to contribute to depression precisely.

#### 1.5.3 Blood Brain Barrier Permeability

Until recently, it was not well understood how peripheral cytokines affected or were involved in the etiopathogenesis of depression at the level of the brain. As they exist in the plasma and are seemingly blocked from entry into brain parenchyma by the blood brain barrier (BBB), their connection to the brain was thought to be indirect (e.g., neural and humoral pathways which target the afferent nerve). Permeability in the BBB was shown to be caused by chronic social stress in male mice. In the nucleus accumbens (Nac), an area associated with emotional regulation, claudin-5 (cldn5), a tight junction protein which acts as a cell adhesion molecule in the paracellular barrier between endothelial cells, is reduced and peripheral proinflammatory cytokines flow into the brain, leading to depression-like behaviours such as social avoidance, anhedonia, and helplessness. This process has been observed in post-mortem brain tissue samples of humans with MDD, effectively associating changes in the Nac endothelium with depression in humans (147,148). Other means through which peripheral cytokines may enter through the BBB include entrance of cytokines through leaky regions such as the circumventricular organ, passage of immune cells that generate cytokines into the brain, active transport, and increased inflammatory mediator signalling leading to production of inflammatory cytokines by microglia and subsequent BBB disruption (149–151).

#### 1.5.4. Cytokines and Brain Activity

Since cytokines can enter the brain, it would be of interest to measure them in the brain along with their direct effects on brain activity. Unfortunately, levels of cytokines in the brain have been studied in most part using post-mortem samples (which are not fully generalizable), but the relationship between cytokines, brain activity, and brain connectivity has been a topic of interest with the development of more sophisticated neuroimaging technologies. The results of these studies demonstrate that there is an association between inflammation and dysregulation of both activity and connectivity of specific brain regions. Individuals treated with IFN- $\alpha$  have increased activation in the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC), increased arousal anxiety, and an increased alarm response (152). In an experiment, when subjected to a public speaking task subjects exhibited increased concentrations of oral IL-6 and soluble TNF receptor 2 (sTNF-R2), which was correlated with activation of the dACC in a social rejection task. In addition, activation of the amygdala was correlated with increased oral IL-6 responses to a social evaluation stressor, with participants who had the greatest IL-6 responses demonstrating the greatest connectivity in the fear network (amygdala, DMPFC).

On the contrary, increased IL- $6\beta$  has been associated with decreased activity in the anterior cingulate and amygdala, and increased likelihood of treatment resistance

(153). Likewise, an increase in CRP was associated with a reduction in functional connectivity in a network including the ventral striatum, para-hippocampal gyrus/amygdala, orbitofrontal and insular cortices, and posterior cingulate cortex (154). These changes in connectivity were focused on the ventral medial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC), which mediates the relationship between CRP and anhedonia. While these results are the opposite of those mentioned previously, they all indicate dysfunction of the brain during inflammation. Increases in brain activation and connectivity in areas such as the ACC and amygdala being correlated with stress and inflammation create the foundation for our understanding of inflammation and its influence on the brain. While these studies do not include specific measures for depression or depressed subjects, and therefore cannot be directly related to its pathology, they reveal that inflammation has a very real effect on brain functionality. Of note, stress and inflammation are both predisposing factors for depression and their role in these studies allows for speculation on how depression may be involved (136).

Other studies have found dysregulation of the brain associated with both inflammation and depression. Functional connectivity between the striatum and the VMPFC was correlated with increased peripheral IL-6, IL-1B, and IL-1 receptor antagonists in MDD (155). The striatum is further involved as increased cytokines reduce its activation with reward networks, and an injection of the typhoid vaccine, an inflammatory stimulator, can decrease connectivity between it and the subgenual ACC, a brain area associated with depression (Section 1.5). This connection is mediated by IL-6. Moreover, the changes seen in the brain are not limited to the functional; the physical properties of the brain have been shown to be altered in those with MDD. A thinner MPFC was found in MDD patients with a greater number of depressive episodes, and CRP level was inversely associated with right MPFC thickness (156). Hippocampal volume is negatively associated with higher levels of IL-6 and CRP in MDD, a potentially debilitating effect but not surprising as memory deficits are a recurring and common symptom of depression (157). What is most meaningful about these results is their direct linkage to depression; they tie together depression, inflammation, and brain measures in single studies. This confirmation that there is a relationship between all three, with seemingly negative physical outcomes, bolsters the need for further investigations

into their relatedness, as questions pertaining to how cytokines or other inflammatory markers correlate with specific brain changes, for example, remain unanswered.

#### 1.5.5 Late-Life Depression and Inflammation

Studies investigating factors of inflammation in older depressed populations are unfortunately relatively rare despite available studies indicating inflammation as a factor in LLD and age itself furthering an inflammatory state (158). Increased expression of cell adhesion molecules in the DLPFC (associated with ischemia), of free 8-isoprostane, a marker for oxidative stress which can lead to chronic inflammation, and other proinflammatory biomarkers have been demonstrated in LLD (159–162). Decreases in inflammatory cytokine levels in older adults (mean age 60.3) after practicing meditation, as compared to a music group, highlight the presence of inflammation in and its relatedness to depression symptomatology in older adults (163). As previously mentioned, somatic comorbidities are often predisposing factors of LLD, so it is interesting that symptoms often complained about in old age such as frailty have been linked to chronic inflammation (164,165). More recently, a 2020 study by Sonsin-Diaz et al. found that compared to those who maintained low levels of CRP, older individuals (mean age 75.5) who have elevated levels of CRP throughout the majority of a 21 year period experienced depression symptoms of greater severity (166). This is further supported by Torre-Luque A. in 2019 and Kokkekler MJE et al. in 2020 who both found that inflammatory dysregulation is associated with increased depression severity in older adults (167,168). Overall, inflammation seems to play a critical role in the furtherance of depression in these individuals, and age may intrinsically lead to such outcomes, although it is not clear the extent to which inflammation affects older adults and if these effects are more severe.

#### 1.5.6 Antidepressant Effects of Anti-inflammatory Agents

Another link between inflammation and depression is the effect that antiinflammatory agents can have on depressed individuals. A meta-analysis studied the effects of pro-inflammatory cytokine inhibitors on depressive symptoms, as compared to placebos. They found that these medications significantly decreased depressive symptoms (169). In a study using infliximab, motor retardation, motivation, suicide ideation, and depressed mood were all significantly improved (170). Two separate meta-analyses found that in thousands of patients, anti-inflammatory drugs (including NSAIDs) improved depression symptomatology (171,172). It should be pointed out that these meta-analyses were performed in those with comorbid inflammatory conditions such as psoriasis, which are posited to have a separate mechanistic profile. Although these findings do suggest antidepressant effects of anti-inflammatory agents, the current evidence is not sufficient for progression to clinical use. It is unknown how anti-inflammatory agents affect specific depressive symptoms such as fatigue (45). Consideration of potential side effects, methodology for the identification of treatment-responsive patients, and comorbidities, a possible risk factor, will need to be completed. Most importantly, replicability of these findings will need to be achieved -a milestone which remains to be seen. Discrepancies in methodology have contributed to inconsistent research on the effects of antiinflammatory agents such as NSAIDs, and a consensus on research methodology is crucial for lending credibility to their use as antidepressants (173). Nonetheless, their use in research and their ability to have some effect on depression symptomatology create further evidence associating depression with inflammation.

#### 1.5.7 Treatment Resistance and Inflammation

Little evidence exists at this point to link treatment resistance in depression with inflammation as measures of inflammation are not commonly assessed in TRD despite inflammation being an indicator of treatment response and it contributing to the potential existence of an inflammatory "subtype" of depression (174). Recent research has suggested that inflammatory dysregulation may be the difference between a treatment responder and a non-responder (175,176). This is substantiated by low monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP1), an inflammatory cytokine, being found to be a predictor of treatment resistance (177), along with increased peripheral IL-6 in majorly depressed patients who did not respond to amitriptyline treatment (178). Other peripheral cytokines, such as TNF, sTNF-R2, and IL-6 are elevated in those with 3 or more failed treatment trials as compared to those with 1 or 0 failed trials (179), and a variety of

diverse proinflammatory biomarkers have been shown to be increased in those with TRD as compared to healthy controls (180,181).

Specific expression combinations of inflammatory biomarkers and genes may be what contributes to this subtype. This may be why inflammatory biomarkers can have opposite effects in certain contexts (although this has yet to be elucidated). Interleukin-2 (IL-2) detected before treatment has been associated with treatment resistance in the short term, but CRP, IL-6, MCP4 elevated post-treatment has been linked with poor long-term (3-12 months after hospital discharge) response to treatment (174). Furthermore, TRD patients with high inflammation (as indicated by elevated CRP levels) respond better to anti-inflammatory agents than those with low to average CRP (182). A follow-up study found these high inflammation patients displayed a unique lipid and glucose metabolism gene expression profile which is possibly an indicator of this inflammatory subtype of depression (183). If this subtype indeed exists, then treatment resistance in depression may be to a great degree influenced by inflammation and treatment resistance in depression.

#### 1.5.8 Microglia and Inflammation

As previously mentioned, microglia play an important role in the inflammatory response as they mediate the cascade by acting as the macrophages of the brain. They release inflammatory mediators, and are involved in the overexpression of glutamate – leading to glutamate excitotoxicity – and in the production of quinolinic acid, a potent neurotoxin, from KYN (184). In chronically stressed mice, there is a decline in the number of microglia in the hippocampus, as well as decreased activation of said microglia (185). In individuals with multiple sclerosis, microglial activation is present and is associated with symptoms of depression (186). In MDD, microglial activity is linked with increases in levels of IL-6, IL-8, and TNF in the CSF and brain parenchyma, as well as with a reduction in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (187,188). This reduction could be due to monocytes infiltrating the brain parenchyma as a result of increased permeability of the BBB (188). Suicidal individuals are known to have increased levels of monocytes in addition to increased activation of microglia and microglial priming in both grey and

white matter (189–191). This occurs in these patients regardless of if they fulfill DSM criteria. The above findings are reflective of cytokine data, wherein individuals with depressive symptoms as a result of other illnesses or inflammatory challenges experience microglial activation (133,192–194).

Microglial activation and density can be imaged using positron emission tomography (PET) tracers, wherein the tracer binds to translocator protein (TSPO) on the surface of mitochondria of microglia. Setiawan and colleagues reported that, while using tracer  $[{}^{18}F]N-2-(fluoroethoxyl)benzyl-N-(4phenoxypyridin-3-yl)acetamide (<math>[{}^{18}F]FEPPA$ ), TSPO total volume distribution  $(V_T)$ , or TSPO density, was significantly increased by 26% in the prefrontal cortex, 32% in the ACC, and 33% in the insula in patients with a major depressive episode (195). In particular, the greater TSPO  $V_T$  in the ACC correlated with greater depression severity and duration (196). The severity and duration of unmedicated MDD were strong predictors of TSPO V<sub>T</sub>, accounting for 50% of variance in TSPO  $V_T$  in the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and insula. Richards et al repeated the initial results while using  $[^{11}C]PBR28$  in major depressive episode (MDE) patients, finding that TSPO binding was significantly increased in unmedicated MDE patients, and could be decreased by psychotherapy (197,198). An additional [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA study found increased microglial activity in the hippocampus, while a study using <sup>11</sup>C]CK11195 reported higher microglial activity in the ACC, the insula, and the prefrontal cortex in unmedicated MDD patients as compared to healthy controls (199,200). In LLD patients, increased uptake was correlated with levels of peripheral CRP (201). Overall, [<sup>18</sup>F]- FEPPA studies indicate increased microglial activity in MDD, and studies using other TSPO-PET tracers reflect these findings.

On the contrary, Hannestad et al (2013) found that TSPO is not elevated in depression, although they used [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 as their radioligand (202). Another study, also using [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 as a radioligand, was performed in 10 depressed individuals using injected LPS, compared to 10 healthy controls. They found that TSPO binding did not correlate with inflammation or mood even though TSPO levels did increase (203). In another study, IFN $\alpha$  was administered which led to a decrease in V<sub>T</sub> in the whole brain, but with correction this effect was eliminated. Mood changes were apparent in subjects given IFN $\alpha$ , but no association was found between inflammation and mood (204). This

could be attributable to differing study methodologies, as well as to differing TSPO tracer characteristics, or the potential suppression of microglia in specific conditions. Indeed, some studies have found decreased numbers of glial cells in the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex in depressed individuals compared to healthy controls (205–207), suggesting distinct roles for microglia. At this point in time there seems to be no clear consensus on how microglia should respond and how this may change in response to depression.

Considering the above, it becomes apparent that the status of microglial activation in TRD is still unknown. Particularly of note, it is not clear if key frontolimbic regions such as the insula and ACC exhibit higher microglial activation, and how such activation, if present, relates to the connectivity between these two regions. In healthy individuals administered an inflammatory challenge, the resulting depressive symptoms are mediated by activity of the insula and sgACC (67,194). To further understand neuroinflammation in the sgACC and the insula, microglial activation in these areas can be measured. In the subsequent chapter, we examine this issue in human subjects.

#### **1.6 Imaging the Mechanisms of Depression**

#### 1.6.1 In Vivo Measures of Inflammation

Inflammation is frequently assessed through measurements of peripheral inflammatory biomarkers. This method is simple, cost-effective, and easy-to-complete, and as such has been well-established in literature. Biomarkers will be found at the site of inflammation, as well as circulating in plasma and serum, and can be measured from blood samples in addition to urine, saliva, and cerebrospinal fluid. A major drawback of this technique involves cases when the region of interest is the brain: one is unable to ascertain neuroinflammation, but rather a whole-body inflammatory state. Post-mortem brain tissue samples can be acquired to assess biomarker levels directly in the brain with a high degree of specificity, but these samples come from the endpoint of disease progression (which is not of interest) and are not generalizable.

#### 1.6.2 PET Imaging of Inflammation

PET is the most highly sensitive imaging technique and is widely used in the research of neuropsychiatric disorders, movement disorders, and more. Microglial activation, and thus inflammation of the brain, can be quantified by detection of translocator proteins of 18 kDa (TSPO) which are expressed on the surface of mitochondrial membranes and are upregulated during the immune response. Many studies over the years have confirmed this upregulation during neuroinflammation (208) as in the brains of depressed individuals as described above.

The most commonly used TSPO radioligand to study microglia to date has been [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195 which poorly penetrates the blood brain barrier, has poor affinity for TSPO, high plasma protein binding, and a difficult process for synthesis. Second generation ligands – ligands developed from lessons learned from [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195 – such as [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA, have a higher brain penetration rate as well as a high affinity for TSPO. [<sup>18</sup>F]-labelled radioligands have improved counting statistics and image quality compared to [<sup>11</sup>C], in addition to a longer half-life (20.39 minutes vs. 108.9 minutes) (209,210) which is better suited for clinical imaging. Other [<sup>18</sup>F]-labelled radioligands such as [<sup>18</sup>F]FEDAA1106 and [<sup>18</sup>F]PBR06 have many favourable properties but have issues such as being overly lipophilic or can confound quantification through the production of brain-penetrating metabolites (211,212).

#### 1.6.3 In Vivo Imaging of Brain Network Connections

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) offers good spatial resolution, is noninvasive, and has good spatial localization for both structural and functional imaging. Functional MRI (fMRI) applies radiofrequency pulses (RF) on a time-varying basis to measure variations in neural metabolism. The majority of fMRI imaging uses the bloodoxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) MRI technique to detect changes in levels of deoxygenated hemoglobin, a measurement which acts as a proxy for neuronal activation. When an area of the brain is activated, this area will have an increased metabolic rate, and therefore receive a greater influx of cerebral blood flow to replenish depleted stores of oxygen and flush out waste products. The oxyhemoglobin will then be converted to deoxygenated hemoglobin as oxygen is delivered to the activated area. Initially, there will be a surge in deoxygenated hemoglobin as the affected area consumes the oxygen, but within a few seconds the deoxyhemoglobin will be overpowered by oxyhemoglobin as the body overcompensates for the amount of oxygen that is needed. This event is referred to as the hemodynamic response. Oxygenated hemoglobin is diamagnetic and indistinguishable from tissue, but deoxygenated hemoglobin is paramagnetic and creates gradients in the magnetic field which affect specific MRI signal parameters -- T2 and T2\* relaxation times -- in the blood. The changes can be measured using BOLD fMRI while the subject is in a "resting state" (in the scanner with no particular thoughts) or in a taskbased situation with a specific set of rules to which the subject must adhere.

Functional connectivity is the statistical probability of two or more regions of the brain being functionally related in time (213). These distant regions will show correlated activity in a resting state or in response to a task at the same moment. When regions are shown to be functionally connected consistently, they are considered to be components of a network. As a strength, this approach is relatively straightforward and without bias due to its lack of *a priori* assumptions. It is important to note that since this method is correlational, causation cannot be immediately assumed.

#### 1.6.4 In Vivo Imaging of Brain Macrostructure Connections

Along with functional connectivity, depression symptomatology is linked with alterations in structural connectivity. White matter tracts associated with and connected to the ACC have been implicated in depression. A prominent white matter tract with projections from the cingulate gyrus towards the temporal lobe, forming a C shape around the corpus callosum, is the cingulum bundle. This tract has been linked with emotion, pain, and executive dysfunction (214,215) and, using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), its integrity has been measured in depressed individuals, identifying decreases in fractional anisotropy and axial diffusivity, and increases in radial diffusivity (216–220). Such patterns of microstructure alterations have been associated with familial risk for depression (221), and reductions in fractional anisotropy have been correlated with depression severity and duration in the cingulum (222). Although the cingulum bundle is

of great interest for those studying MDD, it is currently unknown how neuroinflammation is related to its integrity in those with the condition.

DTI is an MRI technique which measures the diffusion of water threedimensionally across the brain using diffusion weighted image (DWI). The diffusion tensor captured from DWI represents the three eigenvectors (which each correspond to an eigenvalue, a scaling factor) that characterize water diffusion direction and magnitude, along the three dimensions, which provides insight into white matter integrity. Diffusion measured in tissue will be anisotropic (vary depending on direction), and in white matter anisotropy can be caused by cellular membranes, myelination, and axon density. By modelling the diffusion tensor, diffusion tensor parameters that describe several aspects of water diffusion direction and magnitude can be calculated to characterize white matter macrostructure. The DTI parameters are 1) fractional anisotropy – the relative difference between the largest eigenvalue and the others, representing microstructural integrity, 2) mean diffusivity – the average of all three eigenvalues, representing membrane density, 3) axial diffusivity -- the value of the primary eigenvalue, representing diffusion along the main white matter tract, and 4) radial diffusivity -- the average of the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> eigenvalues, representing demyelination. Statistical analyses of these parameters using ROIs, voxel-based analyses, or tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) can be used to quantify brain macrostructure. ROI analyses can be biased and accurate parcellations of white matter regions are difficult to achieve. Voxel-based analyses are automated, spatially-specific, and avoid bias, but registration of individual brain images to a common space for statistical analysis requires complex algorithms and may not be accurate (223). TBSS is a recent method which eliminates issues with registration algorithms and the need to use spatial smoothing to reduce noise, therefore increasing statistical power (223). Here, TBSS was used to quantify connectivity in the cingulum bundle in relation to levels of inflammation measured with TSPO PET. However, DTI can be limited by challenges with tissue type differentiation (partial volume effects) as diffusion is averaged over a relatively large voxel, and by difficulty resolving crossing fibers – fibers from separate pathways -- as the tensor can only model a single major fiber direction (224). Thus, DTI can be difficult to interpret, and depending on the tissue type, brain region, and sample, the same measure may represent separate outcomes entirely. Overall, DTI is particularly
useful in the study of neurodegenerative disorders, movement disorders, neurodevelopment, and aging, but special care must be taken in its interpretation.



**Figure 1.3. The cingulum bundle.** The cingulum bundle (red) is a prominent white matter tract which forms a C-shape around the corpus callosum. It has been repeatedly associated with the pathophysiology of depression. We expect the neuroinflammation to reduce its white matter axonal integrity.

# 1.7 Study Outline

Individuals aged 50 years and older with treatment-resistant MDD were compared to healthy controls. After [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA injection, all individuals were scanned by a hybrid PET/MR system in order to assess microglial activity and functional/structural connectivity. PET images were used to obtain mean relative SUV data for the subgenual ACC and the insula. Functional images were used to assess functional connectivity with the ACC as a seed. DTI data was used to assess structural connectivity of the cingulum bundle. The goal was to relate network data to inflammation.

## 1.7.1 Study Objectives

1. To assess [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA-traced microglial activation findings in treatment-resistant older MDD patients as compared to healthy controls.

2. To investigate the relationship between microglial activity and functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula.

3. To investigate the relationship between microglial activity and white matter structural connectivity in the cingulum bundle.

## 1.7.2 Study Hypotheses

We hypothesized that subjects with MDD would demonstrate increased microglial activity in the insula and sgACC, and this aberration would be associated with alterations in functional connectivity between these two regions and with structural connectivity of the cingulum bundle.

# **1.8 References**

- Hasin DS, Sarvet AL, Meyers JL, Saha TD, Ruan WJ, Stohl M, Grant BF (2018): Epidemiology of adult DSM-5 major depressive disorder and its specifiers in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry* 75: 336–346.
- 2. Knoll AD, MacLennan RN (2017): Prevalence and correlates of depression in Canada: Findings from the Canadian Community Health Survey. *Can Psychol* 58: 116–123.
- Keller MB, Boland RJ (1998, September 1): Implications of failing to achieve successful long-term maintenance treatment of recurrent unipolar major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 44. Biol Psychiatry, pp 348–360.
- 4. Kessler RC, Zhao S, Blazer DG, Swartz M (1997): Prevalence, correlates, and course of minor depression and major depression in the national comorbidity survey. *J Affect Disord* 45: 19–30.
- 5. Judd LL (1997): The Clinical Course of Unipolar Major Depressive Disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, vol. 54. Arch Gen Psychiatry, pp 989–991.
- Solomon DA, Keller MB, Leon AC, Mueller TI, Shea MT, Warshaw M, et al. (1997): Recovery from major depression: A 10-year prospective follow-up across multiple episodes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 54: 1001–1006.
- 7. Nutt DJ (2008): Relationship of Neurotransmitters to the Symptoms of Major Depressive Disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* 69: 4–7.
- Stahl SM, Zhang L, Damatarca C, Grady M (2003): Brain Circuits Determine Destiny in Depression: A Novel Approach to the Psychopharmacology of Wakefulness, Fatigue, and Executive Dysfunction in Major Depressive Disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* 64: 6–17.
- 9. Lee CH, Giuliani F (2019): The Role of Inflammation in Depression and Fatigue. *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 10. NLM (Medline), p 1696.
- 10. Grigoriadis S, Robinson GE (2007, October): Gender issues in depression. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, vol. 19. pp 247–255.
- 11. Fast Facts about Mental Illness CMHA National (n.d.): Retrieved January 27, 2021, from https://cmha.ca/fast-facts-about-mental-illness
- 12. Mojtabai R (2001): Impairment in major depression: Implications for diagnosis. *Compr Psychiatry* 42: 206–212.
- 13. Mojtabai R, Nicholson RA, Neesmith DH (1997): Factors affecting relapse in patients discharged from a public hospital: Results from survival analysis. *Psychiatr Q* 68: 117–129.
- McLaughlin KA (2011, December): The Public Health Impact of Major Depression: A Call for Interdisciplinary Prevention Efforts. *Prevention Science*, vol. 12. NIH Public Access, pp 361–371.
- 15. Making the Case for Investing in Mental Health in Canada (n.d.):
- Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee E, Hahn SR, Morganstein D (2003): Cost of Lost Productive Work Time among US Workers with Depression. *J Am Med Assoc* 289: 3135–3144.
- 17. Healthy Brains at Work (n.d.): Retrieved January 27, 2021, from www.e-library.ca.
- 18. Surtees PG, Wainwright NWJ, Khaw KT, Day NE (2003): Functional health status, chronic medical conditions and disorders of mood. *Br J Psychiatry* 183: 299–303.

- 19. Barefoot JC, Schroll M (1996): Symptoms of depression, acute myocardial infarction, and total mortality in a community sample. *Circulation* 93: 1976–1980.
- 20. Frasure-Smith N, Lespérance F, Talajic M (1993): Depression Following Myocardial Infarction: Impact on 6-Month Survival. *JAMA* 270: 1819–1825.
- 21. Lespérance F, Frasure-Smith N, Juneau M, Théroux P (2000): Depression and 1-year prognosis in unstable angina. *Arch Intern Med* 160: 1354–1360.
- 22. Frasure-Smith N, Lespérance F, Talajic M (1995): Depression and 18-month prognosis after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 91: 999–1005.
- 23. Jonas BS, Mussolino ME (2000): Symptoms of depression as a prospective risk factor for stroke. *Psychosom Med* 62: 463–471.
- 24. Jonas BS, Franks P, Ingram DD (1997): Are symptoms of anxiety and depression risk factors for hypertension? Longitudinal evidence from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. Arch Fam Med 6: 43–49.
- 25. Rajan S, McKee M, Rangarajan S, Bangdiwala S, Rosengren A, Gupta R, *et al.* (2020): Association of Symptoms of Depression with Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality in Low-, Middle-, and High-Income Countries. *JAMA Psychiatry* 77: 1052–1063.
- 26. Kessler RC, Borges G, Walters EE (1999): Prevalence of and risk factors for lifetime suicide attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 56: 617–626.
- 27. Office of Applied Studies (2006): Abuse: Suicidal Thoughts, Suicide Attempts, Major... - Google Scholar. Rockville, MD. Retrieved January 27, 2021, from https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?title=Suicidal+thoughts,+suicide+attempt s,+major+depressive+episode,+and+substance+use+among+adults&publication\_yea r=2006&
- Koenig HG, Cohen HJ, Blazer DG, Krishnan KRR, Sibert TE (1993): Profile of Depressive Symptoms in Younger and Older Medical Inpatients with Major Depression. J Am Geriatr Soc 41: 1169–1176.
- 29. Vasiliadis H-M, Dionne P-A, Préville M, Gentil L, Berbiche D, Latimer E (2013): The excess healthcare costs associated with depression and anxiety in elderly living in the community. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 21: 536–48.
- Steffens DC, Fisher GG, Langa KM, Potter GG, Plassman BL (2009): Prevalence of depression among older Americans: The aging, demographics and memory study. *Int Psychogeriatrics* 21: 879–888.
- Koenig HG, George LK, Siegler IC (1988): The Use of Religion and Other Emotion-Regulating Coping Strategies Among Older Adults. *Gerontologist* 28: 303–310.
- 32. Parmelee PA, Katz IR, Lawton MP (1989): Depression Among Institutionalized Aged: Assessment and Prevalence Estimation. *J Gerontol* 44: M22–M29.
- 33. Schulz R, Drayer RA, Rollman BL (2002): Depression as a risk factor for non-suicide mortality in the elderly. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 52 52: 205–225.
- Blazer DG, Hybels CF, Pieper CF (2001): The association of depression and mortality in elderly persons: A case for multiple, independent pathways. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 56: M505–M509.
- 35. Navaneelan T (2017, June): Suicide rates: An overview. *Health at a Glance Statistics Canada Catalogue No.* 82-624-X. Retrieved January 27, 2021, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2012001/article/11696-eng.htm

- 36. Andreescu C, Sheu LK, Tudorascu D, Walker S, Aizenstein H (2014): The ages of anxiety Differences across the lifespan in the default mode network functional connectivity in generalized anxiety disorder. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 29: 704–712.
- 37. Lenze EJ, Wetherell JL (2011): A lifespan view of anxiety disorders. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 13: 381–99.
- Laird KT, Krause B, Funes C, Lavretsky H (2019, December 1): Psychobiological factors of resilience and depression in late life. *Translational Psychiatry*, vol. 9. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0424-7
- 39. Cusin C, Yang H, Yeung A, Fava M (2009): Rating Scales for Depression. *Handbook* of Clinical Rating Scales and Assessment in Psychiatry and Mental Health. Humana Press, pp 7–35.
- 40. Coppen A, Bolander-Gouaille C (2005, January): Treatment of depression: Time to consider folic acid and vitamin B 12. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, vol. 19. J Psychopharmacol, pp 59–65.
- 41. Diniz BS, Butters MA, Albert SM, Dew MA, Reynolds CF (2013, May): Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based cohort studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 202. Royal College of Psychiatrists, pp 329–335.
- 42. Linden M, Borchelt M, Barnow S, Geiselmann B (1995): The impact of somatic morbidity on the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale in the very old. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 92: 150–154.
- 43. Hopkins RO, Beck CJ, Burnett DL, Weaver LK, Victoroff J, Bigler ED (2006): Prevalence of White Matter Hyperintensities in a Young Healthy Population. *J Neuroimaging* 16: 243–251.
- 44. Walker FR (2013): A critical review of the mechanism of action for the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: Do these drugs possess anti-inflammatory properties and how relevant is this in the treatment of depression? *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.10.002
- 45. Kohler O, Krogh J, Mors O, Eriksen Benros M (2016): Inflammation in Depression and the Potential for Anti-Inflammatory Treatment. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 14: 732– 742.
- 46. Köhler O, E. Benros M, Nordentoft M, Farkouh ME, Iyengar RL, Mors O, Krogh J (2014, December 1): Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive symptoms, and adverse effects a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Psychiatry*, vol. 71. American Medical Association, pp 1381–1391.
- 47. Müller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S, Douhe A, Cerovecki A, Goldstein-Müller B, *et al.* (2006): The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: Results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. *Mol Psychiatry* 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001805
- 48. Akhondzadeh S, Jafari S, Raisi F, Nasehi AA, Ghoreishi A, Salehi B, et al. (2009): Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: A double blind and placebo controlled trial. *Depress Anxiety* 26. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20589
- 49. Abbasi SH, Hosseini F, Modabbernia A, Ashrafi M, Akhondzadeh S (2012): Effect of celecoxib add-on treatment on symptoms and serum IL-6 concentrations in patients with major depressive disorder: Randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study.

J Affect Disord 141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.03.033

- 50. Bresalier RS, Sandler RS, Quan H, Bolognese JA, Oxenius B, Horgan K, et al. (2005): Cardiovascular Events Associated with Rofecoxib in a Colorectal Adenoma Chemoprevention Trial. N Engl J Med 352. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa050493
- 51. Snydman DR, Toussi SS, Pan N, Walters HM, Walsh TJ (2013): Infections in children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease treated with tumor necrosis factor- Inhibitors: Systematic review of the literature. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 57. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit489
- 52. Souery D, Papakostas GI, Trivedi MH (2006): Treatment-Resistant Depression. *J Clin Psychiatry* 67: 16–22.
- 53. Golden RN, Nemeroff CB, McSorley P, Pitts CD, Dubé EM (2002): Efficacy and tolerability of controlled-release and immediate-release paroxetine in the treatment of depression. *J Clin Psychiatry* 63: 577–584.
- Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Warden D, Ritz L, *et al.* (2006): Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using measurement-based care in STAR\*D: Implications for clinical practice. *Am J Psychiatry* 163: 28–40.
- 55. Nierenberg AA, Keefe BR, Leslie VC, Alpert JE, Pava JA, Worthington JJ, *et al.* (1999): Residual symptoms in depressed patients who respond acutely to fluoxetine. *J Clin Psychiatry* 60: 221–225.
- 56. Paykel ES, Ramana R, Cooper Z, Hayhurst H, Kerr J, Barocka A (1995): Residual Symptoms After Partial Remission: An Important Outcome in Depression. *Psychol Med* 25: 1171–1180.
- 57. Shelton RC (2006): The Nature of the Discontinuation Syndrome Associated With Antidepressant Drugs. *J Clin Psychiatry* 67: 3–7.
- 58. Whyte EM, Dew MA, Gildengers A, Lenze EJ, Bharucha A, Mulsant BH, Reynolds CF (2004): Time course of response to antidepressants in late-life major depression: Therapeutic implications. *Drugs and Aging*, vol. 21. pp 531–554.
- Knochel C, Alves G, Friedrichs B, Schneider B, Schmidt-Rechau A, Wenzler S, *et al.* (2015): Treatment-resistant Late-life Depression: Challenges and Perspectives. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 13: 577–591.
- 60. Teresa B Gibson, Yonghua Jing, Ginger Smith Carls, Edward Kim, J Erin Bagalman, Wayne N Burton, *et al.* (n.d.): Cost Burden of Treatment Resistance in Patients With Depression | AJMC. Retrieved November 25, 2020, from https://www.ajmc.com/view/ajmc\_10may\_gibson\_370to377
- 61. Crown WH, Finkelstein S, Berndt ER, Ling D, Poret AW, Rush AJ, Russell JM (2002): The impact of treatment-resistant depression on health care utilization and costs. *J Clin Psychiatry* 63: 963–971.
- 62. Alexopoulos GS (2019, December 1): Mechanisms and treatment of late-life depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, vol. 9. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0514-6
- 63. Alexopoulos GS, Murphy CF, Gunning-Dixon FM, Latoussakis V, Kanellopoulos D, Klimstra S, *et al.* (2008): Microstructural white matter abnormalities and remission of geriatric depression. *Am J Psychiatry* 165: 238–244.
- 64. Hall BS, Moda RN, Liston C (2015): Glucocorticoid mechanisms of functional connectivity changes in stress-related neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neurobiology of Stress*, vol. 1. Elsevier Inc, pp 174–183.

- 65. Mössner R, Mikova O, Koutsilieri E, Saoud M, Ehlis A-C, Müller N, et al. (2007): Consensus paper of the WFSBP Task Force on Biological Markers: Biological Markers in Depression. World J Biol Psychiatry 8: 141–174.
- 66. Miller AH (2010, January 8): Depression and immunity: A role for T cells? *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 24. pp 1–8.
- Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Dolan RJ, Critchley HD (2009): Neural Origins of Human Sickness in Interoceptive Responses to Inflammation. *Biol Psychiatry* 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.03.007
- 68. Craig AD (2009, January): How do you feel now? The anterior insula and human awareness. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 10. pp 59–70.
- Busatto GF (2013): Structural and functional neuroimaging studies in major depressive disorder with psychotic features: A critical review. *Schizophr Bull* 39: 776–786.
- 70. Hamilton JP, Etkin A, Furman DJ, Lemus MG, Johnson RF, Gotlib IH (2012, July 1): Functional neuroimaging of major depressive disorder: A meta-analysis and new integration of baseline activation and neural response data. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 169. American Psychiatric Association, pp 693–703.
- 71. Hamilton JP, Glover GH, Hsu JJ, Johnson RF, Gotlib IH (2011): Modulation of subgenual anterior cingulate cortex activity with real-time neurofeedback. *Hum Brain Mapp* 32: 22–31.
- 72. Sliz D, Hayley S (2012, November 12): Major depressive disorder and alterations in insular cortical activity: A review of current functional magnetic imaging (fMRI) research. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, vol. 6. Frontiers Media S. A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00323
- 73. Sprengelmeyer R, Steele JD, Mwangi B, Kumar P, Christmas D, Milders M, Matthews K (2011): The insular cortex and the neuroanatomy of major depression. J Affect Disord 133: 120–127.
- 74. Wiebking C, Bauer A, De Greck M, Duncan NW, Tempelmann C, Northoff G (2010): Abnormal body perception and neural activity in the insula in depression: An fMRI study of the depressed "material me." World J Biol Psychiatry 11. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622970903563794
- 75. Wiebking C, de Greck M, Duncan NW, Tempelmann C, Bajbouj M, Northoff G (2015): Interoception in insula subregions as a possible state marker for depression—an exploratory fMRI study investigating healthy, depressed and remitted participants. *Front Behav Neurosci* 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00082
- 76. Northoff G (2016): Spatiotemporal psychopathology I: No rest for the brain's resting state activity in depression? Spatiotemporal psychopathology of depressive symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.05.007
- 77. Delaveau P, Jabourian M, Lemogne C, Guionnet S, Bergouignan L, Fossati P (2011): Brain effects of antidepressants in major depression: A meta-analysis of emotional processing studies. J Affect Disord 130: 66–74.
- Fitzgerald PB, Laird AR, Maller J, Daskalakis ZJ (2008, June): A meta-analytic study of changes in brain activation in depression (Human Brain Mapping (2008) 29, (683-695)). *Human Brain Mapping*, vol. 29. p 736.
- 79. Kito S, Hasegawa T, Koga Y (2011): Neuroanatomical correlates of therapeutic

efficacy of low-frequency right prefrontal transcranial magnetic stimulation in treatment-resistant depression. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 65: 175–182.

- McGrath CL, Kelley ME, Holtzheimer PE, Dunlop BW, Craighead WE, Franco AR, et al. (2013): Toward a neuroimaging treatment selection biomarker for major depressive disorder. JAMA Psychiatry 70: 821–829.
- 81. Friston KJ, Frith CD, Frackowiak RSJ (1993): Time-dependent changes in effective connectivity measured with PET. *Hum Brain Mapp* 1: 69–79.
- 82. Iwabuchi SJ, Peng D, Fang Y, Jiang K, Liddle EB, Liddle PF, Palaniyappan L (2014): Alterations in effective connectivity anchored on the insula in major depressive disorder. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 24: 1784–1792.
- Iwabuchi SJ, Auer DP, Lankappa ST, Palaniyappan L (2019): Baseline effective connectivity predicts response to repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with treatment-resistant depression. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 29: 681– 690.
- Connolly CG, Wu J, Ho TC, Hoeft F, Wolkowitz O, Eisendrath S, *et al.* (2013): Resting-state functional connectivity of subgenual anterior cingulate cortex in depressed adolescents. *Biol Psychiatry* 74: 898–907.
- 85. Philippi CL, Motzkin JC, Pujara MS, Koenigs M (2015): Subclinical depression severity is associated with distinct patterns of functional connectivity for subregions of anterior cingulate cortex. *J Psychiatr Res* 71: 103–111.
- 86. Wang C, Wu H, Chen F, Xu J, Li H, Li H, Wang J (2018): Disrupted functional connectivity patterns of the insula subregions in drug-free major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord* 234: 297–304.
- 87. Sheline YI, Price JL, Yan Z, Mintun MA (2010): Resting-state functional MRI in depression unmasks increased connectivity between networks via the dorsal nexus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 11020–11025.
- Cullen KR, Gee DG, Klimes-Dougan B, Gabbay V, Hulvershorn L, Mueller BA, et al. (2009): A preliminary study of functional connectivity in comorbid adolescent depression. Neurosci Lett 460: 227–231.
- Liston C, Chen AC, Zebley BD, Drysdale AT, Gordon R, Leuchter B, *et al.* (2014): Default mode network mechanisms of transcranial magnetic stimulation in depression. *Biol Psychiatry* 76: 517–526.
- 90. Baeken C, Marinazzo D, Wu GR, Van Schuerbeek P, De Mey J, Marchetti I, *et al.* (2014): Accelerated HF-rTMS in treatment-resistant unipolar depression: Insights from subgenual anterior cingulate functional connectivity. *World J Biol Psychiatry* 15: 286–297.
- 91. Porta-Casteràs D, Cano M, Camprodon JA, Loo C, Palao D, Soriano-Mas C, Cardoner N (2020, November 14): A multimetric systematic review of fMRI findings in patients with MDD receiving ECT. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*. Elsevier Inc., p 110178.
- 92. Weigand A, Horn A, Caballero R, Cooke D, Stern AP, Taylor SF, et al. (2018): Prospective Validation That Subgenual Connectivity Predicts Antidepressant Efficacy of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Sites. *Biol Psychiatry* 84: 28–37.
- 93. Siegle GJ, Thompson WK, Collier A, Berman SR, Feldmiller J, Thase ME, Friedman ES (2012): Toward clinically useful neuroimaging in depression treatment: Prognostic utility of subgenual cingulate activity for determining depression outcome in cognitive therapy across studies, scanners, and patient characteristics.

Arch Gen Psychiatry 69. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.65

- 94. Morris LS, Costi S, Tan A, Stern ER, Charney DS, Murrough JW (2020): Ketamine normalizes subgenual cingulate cortex hyper-activity in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 45. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0591-5
- 95. Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP (2009, June): Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 10. Nat Rev Neurosci, pp 397–409.
- 96. Holsboer F (2000): The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23: 477–501.
- 97. Swaab DF, Bao AM, Lucassen PJ (2005): The stress system in the human brain in depression and neurodegeneration. *Ageing Research Reviews*, vol. 4. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, pp 141–194.
- 98. Gillespie CF, Nemeroff CB (2005): Hypercortisolemia and depression. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, vol. 67. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000163456.22154.d2
- 99. Pariante CM (2003, August 1): Depression, stress and the adrenal axis. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, vol. 15. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp 811–812.
- 100. Pariante CM (2017, June 1): Why are depressed patients inflamed? A reflection on 20 years of research on depression, glucocorticoid resistance and inflammation. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 27. Elsevier B.V., pp 554–559.
- 101. De Bosscher K, Vanden Berghe W, Haegeman G (2003, August): The interplay between the glucocorticoid receptor and nuclear factor-κB or activator protein-1: Molecular mechanisms for gene repression. *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 24. Endocr Rev, pp 488–522.
- 102. Newton R, Holden NS (2007, October): Separating transrepression and transactivation: A distressing divorce for the glucocorticoid receptor? *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 72. Mol Pharmacol, pp 799–809.
- 103. Cruz-Topete D, Cidlowski JA (2014): One hormone, two actions: Anti- And proinflammatory effects of glucocorticoids. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 22: 20–32.
- 104. Tuckermann JP, Kleiman A, Moriggl R, Spanbroek R, Neumann A, Illing A, et al. (2007): Macrophages and neutrophils are the targets for immune suppression by glucocorticoids in contact allergy. J Clin Invest 117: 1381–1390.
- 105. Sorrells SF, Sapolsky RM (2007, March): An inflammatory review of glucocorticoid actions in the CNS. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 21. Brain Behav Immun, pp 259–272.
- 106. Bornstein SR, Zacharowski P, Schumann RR, Barthel A, Tran N, Papewalis C, et al. (2004): Impaired adrenal stress response in toll-like receptor 2-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 16695–16700.
- 107. Langlais D, Couture C, Balsalobre A, Drouin J (2008): Regulatory Network Analyses Reveal Genome-Wide Potentiation of LIF Signaling by Glucocorticoids and Define an Innate Cell Defense Response ((S. Camper, editor)). *PLoS Genet* 4: e1000224.
- 108. Lannan EA, Galliher-Beckley AJ, Scoltock AB, Cidlowski JA (2012): Proinflammatory Actions of Glucocorticoids: Glucocorticoids and TNFα Coregulate Gene Expression In Vitro and In Vivo. *Endocrinology* 153: 3701–3712.
- 109. Dantzer R (2018, January 1): Neuroimmune interactions: From the brain to the immune system and vice versa. *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 98. American

Physiological Society, pp 477–504.

- 110. Steptoe A, Hamer M, Chida Y (2007, October): The effects of acute psychological stress on circulating inflammatory factors in humans: A review and meta-analysis. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 21. Brain Behav Immun, pp 901–912.
- 111. Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008, January): From inflammation to sickness and depression: When the immune system subjugates the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 9. NIH Public Access, pp 46–56.
- 112. Hashioka S, Inoue K, Hayashida M, Wake R, Oh-Nishi A, Miyaoka T (2018): Implications of Systemic Inflammation and Periodontitis for Major Depression. *Front Neurosci* 12: 483.
- 113. Bluthe RM, Walter V, Parnet P, Laye S, Lestage J, Verrier D, *et al.* (1994): Lipopolysaccharide induces sickness behaviour in rats by a vagal mediated mechanism. *Comptes Rendus l'Academie des Sci - Ser III* 317: 499–503.
- 114. Watkins LR, Goehler LE, Relton JK, Tartaglia N, Silbert L, Martin D, Maier SF (1995): Blockade of interleukin-1 induced hyperthermia by subdiaphragmatic vagotomy: evidence for vagal mediation of immune-brain communication. *Neurosci Lett* 183: 27–31.
- 115. Quan N, Banks WA (2007, August): Brain-immune communication pathways. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 21. Brain Behav Immun, pp 727–735.
- 116. Vitkovic L, Konsman JP, Bockaert J, Dantzer R, Homburger V, Jacque C (2000): Cytokine signals propagate through the brain. *Molecular Psychiatry*, vol. 5. Nature Publishing Group, pp 604–615.
- 117. D'Mello C, Swain MG (2017): Immune-to-brain communication pathways in inflammation-associated sickness and depression. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, vol. 31. Springer Verlag, pp 73–94.
- 118. Fujigaki H, Saito K, Lin F, Fujigaki S, Takahashi K, Martin BM, *et al.* (2006): Nitration and Inactivation of IDO by Peroxynitrite. *J Immunol* 176: 372–379.
- 119. Schwarcz R, Pellicciari R (2002): Manipulation of brain kynurenines: Glial targets, neuronal effects, and clinical opportunities. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 303: 1–10.
- 120. Schwarcz R, Stone TW (2017, January 1): The kynurenine pathway and the brain: Challenges, controversies and promises. *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 112. Elsevier Ltd, pp 237–247.
- 121. Capuron L, Ravaud A, Neveu PJ, Miller AH, Maes M, Dantzer R (2002): Association between decreased serum tryptophan concentrations and depressive symptoms in cancer patients undergoing cytokine therapy. *Mol Psychiatry* 7: 468– 473.
- 122. McNally L, Bhagwagar Z, Hannestad J (2008): Inflammation, glutamate, and glia in depression: A literature review. *CNS Spectrums*, vol. 13. MBL Communications, pp 501–510.
- 123. Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, et al. (2011): Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: Evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? J Neuroinflammation 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-94
- 124. Hunt C, Macedo e Cordeiro T, Suchting R, de Dios C, Cuellar Leal VA, Soares JC, *et al.* (2020, November 1): Effect of immune activation on the kynurenine pathway and depression symptoms A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*

and Biobehavioral Reviews, vol. 118. Elsevier Ltd, pp 514–523.

- 125. Dostal CR, Carson Sulzer M, Kelley KW, Freund GG, McCusker RH (2017): Glial and tissue-specific regulation of Kynurenine Pathway dioxygenases by acute stress of mice. *Neurobiol Stress* 7: 1–15.
- 126. Dobos N, De Vries EFJ, Kema IP, Patas K, Prins M, Nijholt IM, *et al.* (2012): The role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in a mouse model of neuroinflammation-induced depression. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 28: 905–915.
- 127. Parrott JM, Redus L, Santana-Coelho D, Morales J, Gao X, O'Connor JC (2016): Neurotoxic kynurenine metabolism is increased in the dorsal hippocampus and drives distinct depressive behaviors during inflammation. *Transl Psychiatry* 6: e918.
- 128. O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, André C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, *et al.* (2009): Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activation in mice. *Mol Psychiatry* 14: 511–522.
- 129. Laugeray A, Launay J-M, Callebert J, Mutlu O, Guillemin GJ, Belzung C, Barone PR (2016): Chronic Treatment with the IDO1 Inhibitor 1-Methyl-D-Tryptophan Minimizes the Behavioural and Biochemical Abnormalities Induced by Unpredictable Chronic Mild Stress in Mice Comparison with Fluoxetine ((S. Mouillet-Richard, editor)). *PLoS One* 11: e0164337.
- 130. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009, May 1): Inflammation and Its Discontents: The Role of Cytokines in the Pathophysiology of Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 65. Biol Psychiatry, pp 732–741.
- 131. Shelton RC, Claiborne J, Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz M, Reddy R, Aschner M, Lewis DA, Mirnics K (2011): Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. *Mol Psychiatry* 16: 751–762.
- 132. Raison CL, Miller AH (2013): The evolutionary significance of depression in Pathogen Host Defense (PATHOS-D). *Mol Psychiatry* 18: 15–37.
- 133. Reichenberg A, Yirmiya R, Schuld A, Kraus T, Haack M, Morag A, Pollmächer T (2001): Cytokine-associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 58: 445–452.
- 134. Brydon L, Harrison NA, Walker C, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2008): Peripheral Inflammation is Associated with Altered Substantia Nigra Activity and Psychomotor Slowing in Humans. *Biol Psychiatry* 63: 1022–1029.
- 135. Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, Lanctôt KL (2010): A Meta-Analysis of Cytokines in Major Depression. *Biol Psychiatry* 67: 446–457.
- 136. Miller AH, Raison CL (2016, January 1): The role of inflammation in depression: From evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 16. Nature Publishing Group, pp 22–34.
- 137. Hannestad J, Dellagioia N, Bloch M (2011): The effect of antidepressant medication treatment on serum levels of inflammatory cytokines: A meta-analysis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36: 2452–2459.
- 138. Wang L, Wang R, Liu L, Qiao D, Baldwin DS, Hou R (2019, July 1): Effects of SSRIs on peripheral inflammatory markers in patients with major depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 79. Academic Press Inc., pp 24–38.
- 139. Kammula US, White DE, Rosenberg SA (1998): Trends in the safety of high dose bolus interleukin-2 administration in patients with metastatic cancer. *Cancer* 83:

797-805.

- 140. Jiang M, Qin P, Yang X (2014): Comorbidity between depression and asthma via immune-inflammatory pathways: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 166. Elsevier B.V., pp 22–29.
- 141. Sanna L, Stuart AL, Pasco JA, Jacka FN, Berk M, Maes M, et al. (2014): Atopic disorders and depression: Findings from a large, population-based study. J Affect Disord 155: 261–265.
- 142. Du YJ, Li B, Zhang HY, Cao YX, Duan XH, Gong WY, Dong JC (2013): Airway inflammation and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in asthmatic adults with depression. *J Asthma* 50: 274–281.
- 143. Motivala SJ, Sarfatti A, Olmos L, Irwin MR (2005): Inflammatory markers and sleep disturbance in major depression. *Psychosom Med* 67: 187–194.
- 144. Irwin MR, Wang M, Ribeiro D, Cho HJ, Olmstead R, Breen EC, et al. (2008): Sleep Loss Activates Cellular Inflammatory Signaling. *Biol Psychiatry* 64: 538–540.
- 145. Goodwin GM (2006): Depression and associated physical diseases and symptoms. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, vol. 8. Les Laboratoires Servier, pp 259–265.
- 146. Tyring S, Gottlieb A, Papp K, Gordon K, Leonardi C, Wang A, *et al.* (2006): Etanercept and clinical outcomes, fatigue, and depression in psoriasis: Double-blind placebo-controlled randomised phase III trial. *Lancet* 367: 29–35.
- 147. Dudek KA, Dion-Albert L, Lebel M, LeClair K, Labrecque S, Tuck E, et al. (2020): Molecular adaptations of the blood–brain barrier promote stress resilience vs. Depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117: 3326–3336.
- 148. Menard C, Pfau ML, Hodes GE, Kana V, Wang VX, Bouchard S, et al. (2017): Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. Nat Neurosci 20: 1752–1760.
- 149. Capuron L, Miller AH (2011, May): Immune system to brain signaling: Neuropsychopharmacological implications. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, vol. 130. Pharmacol Ther, pp 226–238.
- 150. Lewitus GM, Cohen H, Schwartz M (2008): Reducing post-traumatic anxiety by immunization. *Brain Behav Immun* 22: 1108–1114.
- 151. Welcome MO, Mastorakis NE (2020, July 1): Stress-induced blood brain barrier disruption: Molecular mechanisms and signaling pathways. *Pharmacological Research*, vol. 157. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104769
- 152. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Demetrashvili M, Woolwine BJ, Nemeroff CB, Berns GS, Miller AH (2005): Anterior cingulate activation and error processing during interferon-alpha treatment. *Biol Psychiatry* 58: 190–196.
- 153. Baune BT, Dannlowski U, Domschke K, Janssen DGA, Jordan MA, Ohrmann P, et al. (2010): The Interleukin 1 Beta (IL1B) Gene Is Associated with Failure to Achieve Remission and Impaired Emotion Processing in Major Depression. Biol Psychiatry 67: 543–549.
- 154. Yin L, Xu X, Chen G, Mehta ND, Haroon E, Miller AH, *et al.* (2019): Inflammation and decreased functional connectivity in a widely-distributed network in depression: Centralized effects in the ventral medial prefrontal cortex. *Brain Behav Immun* 80: 657–666.
- 155. Felger JC, Li Z, Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Hu X, Miller AH (2016): Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. *Mol Psychiatry* 21: 1358–1365.

- 156. Meier TB, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Morris HM, Victor TA, et al. (2016): Relationship between neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and reductions in right medial prefrontal cortical thickness in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 53: 39–48.
- 157. Frodl T, Carballedo A, Hughes MM, Saleh K, Fagan A, Skokauskas N, et al. (2012): Reduced expression of glucocorticoid-inducible genes GILZ and SGK-1: High IL-6 levels are associated with reduced hippocampal volumes in major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2012.14
- 158. Godbout JP, Johnson RW (2006, August): Age and Neuroinflammation: A Lifetime of Psychoneuroimmune Consequences. *Neurologic Clinics*, vol. 24. Neurol Clin, pp 521–538.
- 159. THOMAS AJ, PERRY R, BARBER R, KALARIA RN, O'BRIEN JT (2002): Pathologies and Pathological Mechanisms for White Matter Hyperintensities in Depression. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 977: 333–339.
- 160. Thomas AJ, Davis S, Morris C, Jackson E, Harrison R, O'Brien JT (2005): Increase in interleukin-1β in late-life depression. *Am J Psychiatry* 162: 175–177.
- 161. Bremmer MA, Beekman ATF, Deeg DJH, Penninx BWJH, Dik MG, Hack CE, Hoogendijk WJG (2008): Inflammatory markers in late-life depression: Results from a population-based study. *J Affect Disord* 106: 249–255.
- 162. Diniz BS, Mendes-Silva AP, Silva LB, Bertola L, Vieira MC, Ferreira JD, et al. (2018): Oxidative stress markers imbalance in late-life depression. J Psychiatr Res 102: 29–33.
- 163. Lavretsky H, Epel ES, Siddarth P, Nazarian N, Cyr NS, Khalsa DS, *et al.* (2013): A pilot study of yogic meditation for family dementia caregivers with depressive symptoms: Effects on mental health, cognition, and telomerase activity. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 28: 57–65.
- 164. Soysal P, Veronese N, Thompson T, Kahl KG, Fernandes BS, Prina AM, et al. (2017): Relationship between depression and frailty in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev 36: 78–87.
- 165. Arts MHL, Collard RM, Comijs HC, Zuidersma M, de Rooij SE, Naarding P, Oude Voshaar RC (2016): Physical Frailty and Cognitive Functioning in Depressed Older Adults: Findings From the NESDO Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc 17: 36–43.
- 166. Sonsin-Diaz N, Gottesman RF, Fracica E, Walston J, Windham BG, Knopman DS, Walker KA (2020): Chronic Systemic Inflammation Is Associated With Symptoms of Late-Life Depression: The ARIC Study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 28: 87–98.
- 167. de la Torre-Luque A, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Sanchez-Carro Y, de la Fuente J, Lopez-Garcia P (2019): Inflammatory and metabolic disturbances are associated with more severe trajectories of late-life depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104443
- 168. Kokkeler KJE, Marijnissen RM, Wardenaar KJ, Rhebergen D, Van Den Brink RHS, Van Der Mast RC, Oude Voshaar RC (2020): Subtyping late-life depression according to inflammatory and metabolic dysregulation: A prospective study. *Psychol Med.* https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720002159
- 169. Kappelmann N, Lewis G, Dantzer R, Jones PB, Khandaker GM (2018): Antidepressant activity of anti-cytokine treatment: A systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical trials of chronic inflammatory conditions. *Mol Psychiatry* 23: 335–343.

- 170. McIntyre RS, Subramaniapillai M, Lee Y, Pan Z, Carmona NE, Shekotikhina M, et al. (2019): Efficacy of Adjunctive Infliximab vs Placebo in the Treatment of Adults with Bipolar I/II Depression: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Psychiatry 76: 783–790.
- 171. Köhler-Forsberg O, N. Lydholm C, Hjorthøj C, Nordentoft M, Mors O, Benros ME (2019, May 1): Efficacy of anti-inflammatory treatment on major depressive disorder or depressive symptoms: meta-analysis of clinical trials. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, vol. 139. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp 404–419.
- 172. Bai S, Guo W, Feng Y, Deng H, Li G, Nie H, et al. (2020): Efficacy and safety of anti-inflammatory agents for the treatment of major depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 91: 21–32.
- 173. Baune BT (2017): Are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs clinically suitable for the treatment of symptoms in depression-associated inflammation? *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, vol. 31. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2016\_19
- 174. Strawbridge R, Young AH, Cleare AJ (2018): Inflammation as a marker of clinical response to treatment: A focus on treatment-resistant depression. *Inflammation and Immunity in Depression: Basic Science and Clinical Applications*. Elsevier, pp 473– 487.
- 175. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, *et al.* (2013): A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: The role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 70: 31–41.
- 176. Syed SA, Beurel E, Loewenstein DA, Lowell JA, Craighead WE, Dunlop BW, et al. (2018): Defective Inflammatory Pathways in Never-Treated Depressed Patients Are Associated with Poor Treatment Response. *Neuron* 99: 914-924.e3.
- 177. Carvalho LA, Torre JP, Papadopoulos AS, Poon L, Juruena MF, Markopoulou K, *et al.* (2013): Lack of clinical therapeutic benefit of antidepressants is associated overall activation of the inflammatory system. *J Affect Disord* 148: 136–140.
- 178. Lanquillon S, Krieg JC, Bening-Abu-Shach U, Vedder H (2000): Cytokine production and treatment response in major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 22: 370–379.
- 179. Haroon E, Daguanno AW, Woolwine BJ, Goldsmith DR, Baer WM, Wommack EC, *et al.* (2018): Antidepressant treatment resistance is associated with increased inflammatory markers in patients with major depressive disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 95: 43–49.
- 180. Strawbridge R, Hodsoll J, Powell TR, Hotopf M, Hatch SL, Breen G, Cleare AJ (2019): Inflammatory profiles of severe treatment-resistant depression. J Affect Disord 246: 42–51.
- 181. Liu JJ, Wei Y Bin, Strawbridge R, Bao Y, Chang S, Shi L, *et al.* (2020, February 1): Peripheral cytokine levels and response to antidepressant treatment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Molecular Psychiatry*, vol. 25. Springer Nature, pp 339–350.
- 182. Raison CL, Felger JC, Miller AH (2013): Inflammation and treatment resistance in major depression: The perfect storm. *Psychiatr Times* 30. Retrieved January 29, 2021, from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289325028\_Inflammation\_and\_treatment\_

resistance\_in\_major\_depression\_The\_perfect\_storm

- 183. Mehta D, Raison CL, Woolwine BJ, Haroon E, Binder EB, Miller AH, Felger JC (2013): Transcriptional signatures related to glucose and lipid metabolism predict treatment response to the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab in patients with treatment-resistant depression. *Brain Behav Immun* 31: 205–215.
- 184. Dantzer R, Walker AK (2014): Is there a role for glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in inflammation-induced depression? *Journal of Neural Transmission*, vol. 121. Springer-Verlag Wien, pp 925–932.
- 185. Tong L, Gong Y, Wang P, Hu W, Wang J, Chen Z, *et al.* (2017): Microglia Loss Contributes to the Development of Major Depression Induced by Different Types of Chronic Stresses. *Neurochem Res* 42: 2698–2711.
- 186. Colasanti A, Guo Q, Giannetti P, Wall MB, Newbould RD, Bishop C, *et al.* (2016): Hippocampal neuroinflammation, functional connectivity, and depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis. *Biol Psychiatry* 80: 62–72.
- 187. Wang AK, Miller BJ (2018): Meta-analysis of Cerebrospinal Fluid Cytokine and Tryptophan Catabolite Alterations in Psychiatric Patients: Comparisons Between Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, and Depression. *Schizophr Bull* 44: 75–83.
- 188. Enache D, Pariante CM, Mondelli V (2019, October 1): Markers of central inflammation in major depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies examining cerebrospinal fluid, positron emission tomography and postmortem brain tissue. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 81. Academic Press Inc., pp 24–40.
- 189. Torres-Platas SG, Cruceanu C, Chen GG, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2014): Evidence for increased microglial priming and macrophage recruitment in the dorsal anterior cingulate white matter of depressed suicides. *Brain Behav Immun* 42: 50–59.
- 190. Steiner J, Bielau H, Brisch R, Danos P, Ullrich O, Mawrin C, *et al.* (2008): Immunological aspects in the neurobiology of suicide: Elevated microglial density in schizophrenia and depression is associated with suicide. *J Psychiatr Res* 42: 151– 157.
- 191. Schnieder TP, Trencevska I, Rosoklija G, Stankov A, Mann JJ, Smiley J, Dwork AJ (2014): Microglia of prefrontal white matter in suicide. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 73: 880–890.
- 192. Rock RB, Gekker G, Hu S, Sheng WS, Cheeran M, Lokensgard JR, Peterson PK (2004, October 1): Role of microglia in central nervous system infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 17. American Society for Microbiology Journals, pp 942–964.
- 193. Grigoleit J-S, Kullmann JS, Wolf OT, Hammes F, Wegner A, Jablonowski S, *et al.* (2011): Dose-Dependent Effects of Endotoxin on Neurobehavioral Functions in Humans ((C. Combs, editor)). *PLoS One* 6: e28330.
- 194. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2009): Inflammation Causes Mood Changes Through Alterations in Subgenual Cingulate Activity and Mesolimbic Connectivity. *Biol Psychiatry* 66: 407–414.
- 195. Setiawan E, Wilson AA, Mizrahi R, Rusjan PM, Miler L, Rajkowska G, *et al.* (2015): Role of translocator protein density, a marker of neuroinflammation, in the brain during major depressive episodes. *JAMA Psychiatry* 72: 268–275.
- 196. Setiawan E, Attwells S, Wilson AA, Mizrahi R, Rusjan PM, Miler L, *et al.* (2018): Association of translocator protein total distribution volume with duration of

untreated major depressive disorder: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 5: 339–347.

- 197. Richards EM, Zanotti-Fregonara P, Fujita M, Newman L, Farmer C, Ballard ED, et al. (2018): PET radioligand binding to translocator protein (TSPO) is increased in unmedicated depressed subjects. *EJNMMI Res* 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13550-018-0401-9
- 198. Li H, Sagar AP, Kéri S (2018): Microglial markers in the frontal cortex are related to cognitive dysfunctions in major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord* 241: 305–310.
- 199. Li H, Sagar AP, Kéri S (2018): Translocator protein (18 kDa TSPO) binding, a marker of microglia, is reduced in major depression during cognitive-behavioral therapy. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry* 83: 1–7.
- 200. Holmes SE, Hinz R, Conen S, Gregory CJ, Matthews JC, Anton-Rodriguez JM, et al. (2018): Elevated Translocator Protein in Anterior Cingulate in Major Depression and a Role for Inflammation in Suicidal Thinking: A Positron Emission Tomography Study. Biol Psychiatry 83: 61–69.
- 201. Su L, Faluyi YO, Hong YT, Fryer TD, Mak E, Gabel S, *et al.* (2016, December 1): Neuroinflammatory and morphological changes in late-life depression: The NIMROD study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 209. Royal College of Psychiatrists, pp 525–526.
- 202. Hannestad J, DellaGioia N, Gallezot JD, Lim K, Nabulsi N, Esterlis I, *et al.* (2013): The neuroinflammation marker translocator protein is not elevated in individuals with mild-to-moderate depression: A [11C]PBR28 PET study. *Brain Behav Immun* 33: 131–138.
- 203. Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, *et al.* (2015): Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112: 12468–12473.
- 204. Nettis MA, Veronese M, Nikkheslat N, Mariani N, Lombardo G, Sforzini L, *et al.* (2020): PET imaging shows no changes in TSPO brain density after IFN-α immune challenge in healthy human volunteers. *Transl Psychiatry* 10: 1–11.
- 205. Cotter DR, Pariante CM, Everall IP (2001, July 15): Glial cell abnormalities in major psychiatric disorders: The evidence and implications. *Brain Research Bulletin*, vol. 55. Elsevier, pp 585–595.
- 206. Cotter D, Mackay D, Landau S, Kerwin R, Everall I (2001): Reduced glial cell density and neuronal size in the anterior cingulate cortex in major depressive disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 58: 545–553.
- 207. Öngür D, Drevets WC, Price JL (1998): Glial reduction in the subgenual prefrontal cortex in mood disorders. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95: 13290–13295.
- 208. Chen MK, Guilarte TR (2008, April): Translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO): Molecular sensor of brain injury and repair. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, vol. 118. Pharmacol Ther, pp 1–17.
- 209. Zammit M, Tao Y, Olsen ME, Metzger J, Vermilyea SC, Bjornson K, *et al.* (2020): [18F]FEPPA PET imaging for monitoring CD68-positive microglia/macrophage neuroinflammation in nonhuman primates. *EJNMMI Res* 10: 93.
- 210. Rusjan PM, Wilson AA, Bloomfield PM, Vitcu I, Meyer JH, Houle S, Mizrahi R (2011, August): Quantitation of translocator protein binding in human brain with the novel radioligand 18 F-FEPPA and positron emission tomography. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 31. pp 1807–1816.

- 211. Fujimura Y, Ikoma Y, Yasuno F, Suhara T, Ota M, Matsumoto R, *et al.* (2006): Quantitative analyses of 18F-FEDAA1106 binding to peripheral benzodiazepine receptors in living human brain. *J Nucl Med* 47: 43–50.
- 212. Fujimura Y, Zoghbi SS, Simèon FG, Taku A, Pike VW, Innis RB, Fujita M (2009): Quantification of translocator protein (18 kDa) in the human brain with PET and a novel radioligand, 18F-PBR06. *J Nucl Med* 50: 1047–1053.
- 213. Friston KJ (1994): Functional and effective connectivity in neuroimaging: A synthesis. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2: 56–78.
- 214. Bubb EJ, Metzler-Baddeley C, Aggleton JP (2018, September 1): The cingulum bundle: Anatomy, function, and dysfunction. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 92. Elsevier Ltd, pp 104–127.
- 215. Schermuly I, Fellgiebel A, Wagner S, Yakushev I, Stoeter P, Schmitt R, *et al.* (2010): Association between cingulum bundle structure and cognitive performance: An observational study in major depression. *Eur Psychiatry* 25: 355–360.
- 216. Bhatia KD, Henderson LA, Hsu E, Yim M (2018): Reduced integrity of the uncinate fasciculus and cingulum in depression: A stem-by-stem analysis. *J Affect Disord* 235: 220–228.
- 217. Korgaonkar MS, Grieve SM, Koslow SH, Gabrieli JDE, Gordon E, Williams LM (2011): Loss of white matter integrity in major depressive disorder: Evidence using tract-based spatial statistical analysis of diffusion tensor imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp* 32: 2161–2171.
- 218. Keedwell PA, Chapman R, Christiansen K, Richardson H, Evans J, Jones DK (2012): Cingulum white matter in young women at risk of depression: The effect of family history and anhedonia. *Biol Psychiatry* 72: 296–302.
- 219. Cullen KR, Klimes-Dougan B, Muetzel R, Mueller BA, Camchong J, Houri A, *et al.* (2010): Altered White Matter Microstructure in Adolescents With Major Depression: A Preliminary Study. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 49: 173-183.e1.
- 220. De Diego-Adeliño J, Pires P, Gómez-Ansón B, Serra-Blasco M, Vives-Gilabert Y, Puigdemont D, *et al.* (2014): Microstructural white-matter abnormalities associated with treatment resistance, severity and duration of illness in major depression. *Psychol Med* 44: 1171–1182.
- 221. Bracht T, Linden D, Keedwell P (2015, November 15): A review of white matter microstructure alterations of pathways of the reward circuit in depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 187. Elsevier, pp 45–53.
- 222. Henderson SE, Johnson AR, Vallejo AI, Katz L, Wong E, Gabbay V (2013): A preliminary study of white matter in adolescent depression: Relationships with illness severity, anhedonia, and irritability. *Front Psychiatry* 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00152
- 223. Soares JM, Marques P, Alves V, Sousa N (2013): A hitchhiker's guide to diffusion tensor imaging. *Front Neurosci*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00031
- 224. O'Donnell LJ, Westin CF (2011): An introduction to diffusion tensor image analysis. *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America*, vol. 22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nec.2010.12.004

# **Chapter 2**

# 2 The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder

This chapter has been adapted from the following manuscript submitted to the Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience: The Functional and Structural Consequences of Aberrant Microglial Activity in Major Depressive Disorder.

## 2.1 Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD), characterised by recurrent cognitive and emotional dysfunction, is one of the most prevalent psychiatric disorders and a major contributor toward reduced quality of life (1). While the pathophysiology of MDD is not fully understood yet, various brain networks that facilitate cognitive and emotional information processing are thought to be relevant. Two critical brain regions for predicting therapeutic response and prognosis in MDD are the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sgACC) and the insula. Increased sgACC activity can predict resistance to treatment -- this hyperactivity normalizes with an improvement in symptoms (2,3) – and be altered by treatment itself (4–6). Similarly, the metabolic state of the insula, modifiable through MDD therapies, appears to be a critical determinant of response to various forms of treatment in MDD (7–9). Insula, through its extensive connectivity with other brain regions including sgACC, functions to assign salience to emotional and sensory stimuli and regulates interoception (10,11), the disruption of which has been associated with the emergence of several cardinal features of MDD (12–14).

Dysfunction of the immune system, and the resulting aberrant load of neuroinflammation, is increasingly considered to be an important pathway towards depressive illness, at least in a subgroup of patients with MDD. Aberrant neuroinflammation has major implications for treatment outcomes; conventional antidepressants that have little to no anti-inflammatory properties may not be effective, thus resulting in a treatment-resistant profile (15,16). Microglia, which have an integral role in driving the neuroinflammatory response in the brain, have been shown to have increased activity in MDD (16–19), by using PET ligands (e.g. [<sup>18</sup>F]N-2- (fluoroethoxyl)benzyl-N-(4phenoxypyridin-3-yl)acetamide or [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA) that bind to receptors expressed on the mitochondrial membrane of activated microglia. Microglia may alter brain network connectivity through means such as synaptic pruning (20); this likely has downstream consequences on connectivity among brain regions. Prior studies have linked peripheral and post-mortem markers of inflammation with alterations in resting-state functional connectivity in MDD (21,22). While excessive microglial activity has been demonstrated in vivo in MDD, we do not know if this has functional and structural consequences on brain networks relevant to the pathophysiology of depression.

Subjective depressive consequences resulting from neuroinflammatory triggers in healthy volunteers are mediated by the neural activity in the insula and sgACC (10,23). The dysfunction of ACC, in particular its subgenual division, and its altered connectivity with the insula have been consistently reported in MDD (24–29). The insula, ACC as a whole, and the sgACC show increased microglial activity and density in MDD (16,18,19). In the current study, we focus on the microglial activity of insula and sgACC and the connectivity anchored on these nodes in MDD.

Several white matter (WM) tracts have been implicated in depression. The cingulum bundle is a WM tract associated with pain, emotion, and executive function (30,31) that carries a large fraction of projections from the ACC, towards regions that are critical in the pathophysiology of depression such as the hippocampus (32) and parahippocampal gyrus (33). In MDD, alterations in integrity of this tract have been reported and associated with axonal degeneration, familial risk, illness severity and persistence (34–40). In particular, patients with later-life depression are observed to have a higher load of WM lesions affecting the cingulum (41); deep-brain stimulation of the cingulum bundle is a promising treatment option for treatment-resistant MDD (42). We investigated the potential relationship between microglial activity and cingulum integrity in MDD.

We hypothesized that in MDD increased [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA -measured microglial activity in the sgACC and insula would relate to both disrupted connectivity among these

two nodes, and the severity of MDD. This current study investigated this relationship in four parts using a hybrid PET/MRI approach: (1) demonstrating aberrant microglial activity in sgACC and insula in MDD compared to healthy individuals, (2) relating microglial activity to the observed severity of depression, (3) evaluating the functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula in MDD using functional MRI, (4) establishing the relationship between aberrant microglial activity and the structural and functional connectivity of the affected regions in MDD in comparison to the healthy individuals.

### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Participants

Twelve depressed individuals aged 45 years and older referred to the Therapeutic Brain Stimulation clinic at the Parkwood Institute Mental Health Care Building (London, Ontario, Canada) were recruited between December 2017 and March 2019 for the study. PET/MRI data from 23 healthy volunteers recruited for an ongoing dementia imaging study were included as controls (Table 2.1). Patients were assessed by their treating psychiatrist per the Diagnosis and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition -Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 to confirm their diagnosis (43). Symptomatology was reassessed at 6 to 12-month intervals. Up to two weeks before the scan, patients were administered the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) test, Clinical Global Impression Severity scale (CGI-S), and the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D17) (44–47). The medication history, level of education, onset of depression, and treatment response were collected at study enrollment.

All participants were free from confounding neurological or psychiatric disorders, or other conditions that could confound PET and MR imaging including known history of infection and autoimmune disorder. Given the known differences in TPSO binding affinity common to second-generation TSPO PET ligands, participants with low-affinity binding, which represents < 10% of the population, were excluded to reduce intersubject variability (48). Genotyping of the TSPO-related polymorphism was performed at The

London Regional Genomics Centre at Robarts Research Institute and individual TSPO polymorphism status was included as a covariate in statistical analysis. This study was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki ethical standards. All participants provided written informed consent.

#### 2.2.2 PET/MR Imaging

Individuals were scanned once using a 3T Biograph mMR (Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany) utilising a 12-channel PET-compatible head coil in order to obtain both PET and MRI data in tandem. Each subject was injected with an intravenous bolus of [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA (185±5 MBq (5±0.1mCi)), synthesized at Lawson Health Research Institute following a reported method (49). Dynamic PET images were acquired for 90 minutes in list mode, starting immediately following tracer injection. The 60 to 90 minute post-injection frames were reconstructed to six 5-minute frames using Siemens e7 tools and an iterative algorithm (ordered subset expectation maximization algorithm; 3 iterations, 21 subsets, 2 mm full-width at half-maximum (FWHM) Gaussian filter, 2.5 zoom factor,  $344 \times 344 \times 127$  matrix representing  $2 \times 2 \times 2$  mm<sup>3</sup> voxels), and corrected for decay, scatter, dead-time, and attenuation using an MR-based approach (50).

A T1-weighted 3D magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence (slice thickness = 1mm, repetition time = 2000 ms, echo time = 2.98 ms, flip angle = 9 degrees, acquisition matrix =  $256 \times 256$ , and field of view = 256 mm) was used for generation of 1mm isotropic-voxel-tissue masks for PET attenuation and partial volume error correction, masking, co-registration of MRI with PET, and spatial normalization of images into Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space. fMRI images were acquired during rest with eyes opened in a 2 mm isotropic resolution covering the whole brain with 64 interleaved axial slices (slice thickness = 3 mm, repetition time = 2500 ms, echo time = 30 ms, flip angle = 90 degrees, acquisition matrix = 80 mm × 80mm, and field of view = 240 mm). A total of 164 volumes were obtained; the first 6 were discarded to account for magnet stabilization. A 10-min diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) scan was acquired using a single-shot EPI sequence with the following parameters: 64 diffusion-encoding directions; *b*-values = 0 and 1000 s/mm<sup>2</sup>; 2x2x2 mm<sup>3</sup> isotropic voxels. Two b<sub>0</sub> images were acquired with opposite phase-encoding directions to correct for susceptibility-induced distortions in DWI.

#### 2.2.3 PET/MR Image Processing

Preprocessing of PET images was done using the SPM12 toolbox (www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk) and in-house MATLAB (2018b; The MathWorks, Natick, MA) scripts. To compensate for motion, the PET time frames were aligned to the first frame and averaged to one image volume using the SPM realignment function and converted to standardized uptake value (SUV) images. T1-weighted images were segmented into grey matter, WM, and CSF using the segmentation tool in the computational anatomy toolbox (CAT12) (51). The grey matter segment was then smoothed using an 8 mm kernel to permit improved alignment of MRI to PET. A whole-brain mask generated from the cumulative sum of the gray matter, WM, and CSF segments were applied to the PET SUV images to remove extracerebral voxels. The SUV images were corrected for partial volume effects (PVE) using the Müller-Gartner method implemented in the PETPVE12 toolbox in SPM (52). To ensure WM and CSF signal contamination were wellcompensated, the WM and CSF segments were eroded in MATLAB with morphological filtering and connected component analysis using a  $2 \times 2$  voxel size. Point-spread function (PSF) for PVE correction was set at 5 mm isotropic to model the PSF of the PET/MRI scanner. The SUV images were spatially normalized to MNI space following the unified segmentation method (53), smoothed using a Gaussian filter with a FWHM of 10 mm, and count-normalized by the mean SUV in the primary motor cortex to create relative SUV (rSUV) maps. Masks for the grey regional analyses were generated from the Automated Anatomical Labeling (AAL3; https://www.gin.cnrs.fr/en/tools/aal/) atlas. The masks were eroded by 2 voxels as described above to restrict inclusion of voxels outside of the ROI and minimize misalignment of ROI to individual PET images. Mean rSUV values were extracted from left and right sgACC and insula for statistical analysis. The sgACC has been distinctly reported to have higher microglial activity in voxelwise studies of MDD, while the insula has been reported to have higher microglial activity in ROI studies (16,18,19). In addition, we also explored other subregions of ACC (pregenual and supracallosal ACC) in an exploratory manner, and report uncorrected results.

fMRI images were pre-processed using the default direct processing pipeline in CONN toolbox (Matlab2018b; www.nitrc.org/projects/conn, RRID:SCR\_009550) and motion parameters were included as regressors. A seed-based analysis with the sgACC as a seed region was performed between patients and controls (excluding four control individuals due to frontal artifacts) including covariates (age and sex). Pearson's r-to-zscores representing functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula were extracted for statistical analysis. DWI data were preprocessed using an in-house pipeline to generate diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) scalar maps; fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), axial diffusivity (AD), and radial diffusivity (RD) maps (54). The DTI scalar maps were spatially normalized to MNI space using a three-step registration algorithm (consisting of rigid, affine, and deformable transformations to a standard MNI T1 1-mm template) in ANTs (55). Region-based analyses of DTI scalars were performed by calculating mean FA, MD, AD, and RD values in the cingulum bundle WM pathway using regional masks from the John Hopkins White Matter Atlas (56). While there are multiple metrics available from DTI, increased AD has been associated with axonal integrity (57,58) and increased extracellular water content; increased extracellular water content is a biomarker of neuroinflammation (59). Although metrics such as FA, MD, and RD may likewise be sensitive to water content changes, the specific activity of microglia may be more closely related to AD as they aid in engulfing axonal debris (60,61). We chose AD as the primary DTI index of interest for this analysis.

#### 2.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Covariates of no interest included age, sex, and TSPO status. Multiple linear regressions including covariates of no interest were performed to assess differences in regional microglial activity (rSUV) and in functional connectivity (z-scores) to determine the effect of diagnostic status. Given the 4 ROIs chosen *a priori*, a Bonferroni-corrected statistical threshold of 0.0125 was used as the threshold for significance. A multiple linear regression per ROI was performed with non-linear locally estimated scatterplot smoothing (LOESS) to assess the relationship between [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake and HAM-D scores, and between [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake and DTI measures of the cingulum bundle, adjusting for covariates as above (threshold p=0.05).

To test the effects of functional connectivity on microglial activity, first a single factor representing all functional connectivity variables (left sgACC to left insula; left sgACC to right insula; right sgACC to left insula; right sgACC to right insula; left sgACC to right sgACC; left insula to right insula) was derived using principal components analysis (PCA). Next, a non-linear regression predicting left sgACC microglial activity with the PCA-derived connectivity variable and covariates of no interest was run across the whole sample. The connectivity variable and age were included as non-linear (LOESS) predictors while the categorical variables of diagnostic status, sex, and TSPO status were linear. The same models (excluding diagnostic status as a predictor) were run on patients and controls separately. Non-linear regressions were used to relate functional connectivity with  $[^{18}F]FEPPA$  uptake, as both increased (62) and decreased (63,64) connectivity has been reported in preclinical and clinical studies of inflammatory markers, indicating the likelihood of a U-shaped relationship between microglial activity and functional connectivity. Including age and the PCA-derived factor as non-linear in the model reduced the model error significantly compared to the linear model. The number of knots included in the non-linear model was selected based on the generalized cross-validation (GCV) method, which uses leave-one-out cross-validation to minimize the model's prediction error, thus minimizing overfitting. All statistical tests were run using SAS 9.4M7 (Raleigh, North Carolina) with a statistical threshold of p=0.05.

# **2.3 Results**

We found a significant increase in [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake in patients when compared to controls in the left sgACC (t=2.684; p=0.012) while all other regions except the right pregenual ACC showed higher [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake than controls but did not survive correction (Figure 2.1). [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake from the left and right insula were significant predictors of HAM-D scores in a linear model including non-linear age (left p=0.039; right p=0.037) (Figure 2.2). Z-scores representing functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula revealed no significant reduction in pairwise connectivity (Figure 2.3; right sgACC-right insula p=0.053; left sgACC-left insula p=0.474; left sgACC-right insula p=0.059; right sgACC-left insula p=0.209).

Variable <sup>a</sup>	Depressed (n=12)	Healthy (n=23)
Sex	8 F, 4 M	11 F, 12 M
Age (yr.)	54.9 ± 4.5	$60.3 \pm 8.5$
TSPO Status <sup>b</sup>	8 HAB, 4 MAB	12 HAB, 11 MAB
MoCA <sup>c</sup>	$26.5 \pm 2.1$	N/A
HAMD-17	$18.9\pm7.1$	N/A
Age of Onset <sup>d</sup> (yr.)	$30.4 \pm 13.8$	N/A

# **Table 2.1. Participant Demographics.**

<sup>a</sup> All means include  $\pm$  SD.

<sup>b</sup> HAB=high affinity binder, MAB=mixed affinity binder.

<sup>c</sup> Missing data from 1 subject.

<sup>d</sup> Missing data from 2 subjects.



**Figure 2.1. Differences in mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) per region of interest (ROI).** ROIs included left and right sides of (A) the whole anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; in violet), (B) its pregenual (green), subgenual (red), and supracallosal (blue) subregions, as well as (C) the insula. (D). ROIs chosen *a priori* for hypothesis testing are highlighted in the red box. Linear regressions were run for each ROI (including covariates), finding significant differences between patients (N=12) and controls (N=23) in the left subgenual ACC (p=0.012) when partial volume correction is used.



**Figure 2.2. The relationship between mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) from the insula and HAM-D scores.** A linear regression including age as a non-linear factor (LOESS) and sex as covariates found that both (**A**) left insula [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA activity (represented by rSUV; p=0.039) and (**B**) right insula [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA activity (p=0.037) significantly predicted HAM-D scores in major depressive disorder patients (N=12).



**Figure 2.3. Differences in subgenual anterior cingulate cortex-insula functional connectivity.** A linear regression including age and sex as covariates found that functional connectivity (represented by Pearson's r-to-z scores) did not significantly differ between patients (N=12) and controls (N=19) but was borderline significant in the connection between the right subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sgACC) and the right insula (p=0.053) and between the left sgACC and the right insula (p=0.059). sgACCL is left subgenual anterior cingulate cortex; ICL is insular cortex left; sgACCR is right subgenual anterior cingulate cortex; ICR is insular cortex right.



**Figure 2.4.** The relationship between mean relative standard uptake values (rSUV) and functional connectivity. Non-linear regressions including a PCA-derived functional connectivity factor and age as non-linear factors (LOESS), and linear covariates of no interest were run in order to assess the impact of functional connectivity (represented by Pearson's r-to-z scores) between the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex (sgACC) and insula on [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA activity (represented by rSUV). (A) All six pairwise connectivity variables between bilateral sgACC (red) and insula (yellow) were used to create a single

principal factor. (**B**) When using the whole sample (N=31), increasing functional connectivity was associated with a sinusoidal-like change in [ $^{18}$ F]FEPPA activity (p=0.044). (**C**) In patients (N=12), increasing functional connectivity was associated with first a decrease, then an increase in [ $^{18}$ F]FEPPA activity (p=0.015) while (**D**) in controls (N=19) there was again a sinusoidal relationship between connectivity and activity (p=0.035).





Linear regressions including age as a non-linear covariate, and sex, TSPO status, and diffusion tensor imaging metrics of white matter integrity as linear predictors were run in order to assess the impact of white matter integrity of the cingulum bundle on microglial activity in MDD patients (N=12). (A) Increasing axial diffusivity was associated with an increase in microglial activity (p=0.023) (B) Increasing fractional anisotropy was not significantly associated with microglial activity (p=0.843). (C) Increasing mean diffusivity was not significantly associated with microglial activity (p=0.072). (D)

Increasing radial diffusivity was not significantly associated with microglial activity (p=0.173).

We then tested if functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula (derived from a single principal factor explaining most of the variance of six pairwise connectivity variables between bilateral sgACC and insula =  $\binom{4}{2} = 6$ ) is a significant factor explaining [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake in the left sgACC, the region with higher uptake in MDD. This was first done across the whole sample, finding that functional connectivity was a significant non-linear predictor of microglial activity (p=0.044; Figure 2.4B). When investigating patients and controls separately, functional connectivity was a significant non-linear in explaining left sgACC [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake (patients p=0.015; controls p=0.035). Interestingly, higher [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake related to optimal (near-average) connectivity in the healthy subjects, while in MDD, both reduced and increased connectivity occurred with higher [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake (Figure 2.4B & 2.4D).

Finally, we assessed the relationship between microglial activity of the left sgACC and WM integrity of the cingulum bundle. We found that AD, a measure of unidirectional diffusion, from the left cingulum bundle significantly predicted microglial activity of the left sgACC in a linear model (p=0.023) (Figure 2.5A) but FA, MD, and RD did not significantly predict microglial activity (FA p=0.843; MD p=0.072; RD p=0.173) (Figure 2.5B,C,D).

## **2.4 Discussion**

In the current study, we demonstrated 3 key findings relevant to the neuroinflammation hypothesis of MDD: (1) a significantly increased microglial activity in the left sgACC occurs in patients being treated for MDD; (2) the higher the microglial activity in the insula, the less severe the HAMD scores; (3) left sgACC microglial activity influenced the functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula and the axonal integrity of the cingulum bundle in MDD.

Setiawan and colleagues (2015) previously found increases in microglial density in the prefrontal cortex, the insula, and the ACC using [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA in MDD, and other

groups have replicated these results using analogous [<sup>11</sup>C]-PBR28 (16,18). Here, we localized these previous findings to the sgACC as a specific site of increased [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake. The findings of Su and colleagues (2016) using a voxel-wise search in LLD (19) corroborate our localisation to sgACC.

We found that microglial activity from the left and right insula predict HAM-D scores, but this relationship is negative. Prior studies have reported an increase in severity of depression with increasing microglial activity (16), but individuals with increased neuroinflammation showed better treatment outcomes as well (65). Our sample consisted of patients receiving long-term treatment, wherein depression severity was low among those with higher microglial activity. It is possible that the inverse relationship we report is more reflective of the post-treatment improvement in outcome in a subset of patients inclined to have higher neuroinflammation, as reported by (65), or of neuroprotective microglial activity (66). The relationship between symptom severity and microglial activity may differ according to stage of treatment, phase of illness, or treatment-resistant profile. It is also possible that different measures of microglia (rSUV vs. V<sub>T</sub>) between studies may have affected results, although the extent of this effect is unclear.

Levels of sgACC-insula functional connectivity were likewise dependent on diagnostic status, which has previously been elucidated (67). As hypothesized, we then found that functional connectivity between the sgACC and the insula is significantly associated with microglial activity from the left sgACC in both patients and controls. To our best knowledge this is the first study to use PET/MR to investigate the functional consequences on [<sup>18</sup>F]FEPPA uptake in MDD. A study investigating the network pathophysiology as it relates to neuroinflammation (also using PET/MR) in Alzheimer's dementia found that those with increased radioligand binding have abnormal functional connectivity (68). Although this study was done in Alzheimer's patients, later-life MDD and cognitive impairment are highly correlated (with depression being an early risk factor of dementia), and the current results highlight a possible neuroinflammatory basis for both conditions.

We note that patients with MDD have a V-shaped relationship between microglial activity and functional connectivity that is distinct from healthy controls. The healthy

individuals showed an initial increase in microglial activity with increasing functional connectivity, reaching a peak, with a subsequent decrease. In patients, both an increase and decrease in functional connectivity was seen in conjunction with higher levels of microglial activity. On a speculative note, these observations may reflect 2 different states of the microglia – neurotoxic state, seen in patients, where higher levels relate to extremes of functional connectivity, and a neuroprotective or surveillance state, seen in healthy controls, where optimal functional connectivity requires sufficiently high microglial activity, maintaining neuronal communication (69). A dynamic pattern of microglial activity, have been identified in a previous study chronicling the transition from cognitively normal to mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease (69). The speculation presented here needs further confirmation in a longitudinal hybrid PET/MR study using a larger cohort of MDD with age-matched and medication-naïve healthy adults.

When relating WM macrostructural connectivity to microglial activity, we found that AD (diffusion in a direction parallel to the WM tract) of the cingulum bundle was significantly associated with microglial activity in the sgACC. Currently, there is no consensus on the findings of specific DTI metrics in MDD, and meta-analyses have posited that characteristic patterns may be restricted to subsets of the disease (30,36). An increase in AD with increasing microglial activity may denote alterations in WM microstructure (i.e., axonal integrity), and since AD is associated with neuroinflammation (59) and microglia in particular (60,61), it is then, perhaps, that neuroinflammation may negatively impact WM integrity of the cingulum bundle. This relationship may signal increased axonal injury, prompting microglia to clear up axonal debris, or chronic activation of microglia which may facilitate axonal degeneration. Furthermore, although FA, MD, and RD were not significantly associated with microglial activity, their general trends are reflective of age-related patterns of axonal degeneration (70,71). This may then indicate that microglia have a similar effect as age which lends added support to a shared mechanism between Alzheimer's disease and depression.

While the specifics of how microglia are able to influence brain connectivity are ambiguous at best, it is possible that microglia may alter connectivity through synapse pruning. Remodeling of neuronal circuits is an important function of microglia along with their role in the immune response. Abnormalities in this remodeling function can have negative impacts upon synaptic plasticity as well as behaviour (20). The remodeling function is mediated by microglia-neuron crosstalk, a reciprocal communication which when dysregulated may be involved in depression (20). Manipulation of the C-X3-C Motif Chemokine Receptor 1 (CX3CR1) pathway, wherein microglia-neuron communication is prominent, can affect and induce depressive-like behaviour in mice (72–74). Reduced CX3CR1 signaling, and therefore reduced transmission between the two cell types, can affect the efficiency of synapses to transmit signals and may result in modified connectivity, although there are many microglia-neuron signalling pathways through which this can occur; this includes microglial decline and senescence (75,76). While microglia have numerous states of activation, activation specific to inflammation has been linked with altered synaptic current in hippocampal neurons, meaning there is some precedent to these findings (77,78).

Our study has a number of strengths including the use of hybrid PET/MR that mitigates the interval-related confounds that can affect multimodal acquisitions (improved spatial and temporal co-registration), correcting for genetic variations in TSPO status, as well as the use of a second-generation TSPO ligand. But we were limited by the sample size (increasing risk for type II error for exploratory analyses), a lack of taskencoded fMRI data to further validate the relevance of the observed functional dysconnectivity, and use of a MDD cohort which was not medication-naïve. Medications could have anti-inflammatory properties which could alter intrinsic brain activity and influence functional states. Nevertheless, we were sufficiently powered to detect the group differences as reported. Using previously reported effect sizes for the association between microglial activity and depression severity (r=+0.63) (16) and assuming a power of 80%, with a type I error rate of 5% and a type II error rate of 20%, we estimated that a minimum of 12 patients would be sufficient to detect regional-level differences. Secondly, the use of SUV and reference regions as compared to other methods such as kinetic modelling and supervised cluster analysis further limits the strength of our findings and employing these methods in the future will be necessary for confirmation of our results (79).

TSPO imaging is a promising non-invasive tool for research of *in vivo* responses to inflammation; nevertheless, there are inherent limitations to its use. Microglial activation is described as pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory, but this idea is shifting due to emerging research on the ever-changing inflammatory state/morphology of glial cells in response to the environment. An increase in TSPO expression has been associated with both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory states, and TSPO-specific radioligands are unable to distinguish the different states (80,81). This could be due to the states existing in a continuum rather than a binary. It may also be that these TSPO-radioligands measure microglial density rather than microglial activation, and that they represent a combination of microglial as well as astrocytic signalling (82,83). This lack of specificity in inflammatory states may also be a challenge for other radioligands designed to image neuroinflammation by targeting other inflammatory processes besides TSPO, including emerging radioligands that specifically bind to microglia and not astrocytes (84). In addition, TSPO imaging is constrained by a rs6971 gene polymorphism, which we have adjusted statistically in the current work.

## **2.5 Conclusions**

In general, our study first highlights the central role that activated microglia may play in key brain circuits to influence the mechanistic processes (axonal integrity, functional connectivity) and behavioural phenotypes (symptom severity) relevant to depression. Secondly, our work reinforces the need for hybrid PET/MR as a translational neuroimaging tool. Linking mechanistic hypothesis at a receptor/cellular level observed using PET, to network-level dysfunctions observed using DTI/fMRI is a crucial step to generate a more systemic understanding of the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders.

## 2.6 Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by the Lawson Strategic Research fund (SRF-03-16) to Drs. Lena Palaniyappan, Keith St. Lawrence, and Jean Theberge and by the Weston Brain Institute (RR182074) to Drs. Elizabeth Finger, Udunna Anazodo, and Keith St. Lawrence. LP acknowledges salary support from the Tanna Schulich Chair of Neuroscience and Mental Health. Authors would like to acknowledge the support of Parkwood Institute-Mental Health Therapeutic Brain Stimulation clinic for facilitating recruitment for the study.

# **2.7 References**

- 1. Lee CH, Giuliani F (2019): The Role of Inflammation in Depression and Fatigue. *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 10. NLM (Medline), p 1696.
- Siegle GJ, Thompson WK, Collier A, Berman SR, Feldmiller J, Thase ME, Friedman ES (2012): Toward clinically useful neuroimaging in depression treatment: Prognostic utility of subgenual cingulate activity for determining depression outcome in cognitive therapy across studies, scanners, and patient characteristics. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 69. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.65
- Morris LS, Costi S, Tan A, Stern ER, Charney DS, Murrough JW (2020): Ketamine normalizes subgenual cingulate cortex hyper-activity in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 45. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0591-5
- 4. Liston C, Chen AC, Zebley BD, Drysdale AT, Gordon R, Leuchter B, *et al.* (2014): Default mode network mechanisms of transcranial magnetic stimulation in depression. *Biol Psychiatry* 76: 517–526.
- Baeken C, Marinazzo D, Wu GR, Van Schuerbeek P, De Mey J, Marchetti I, *et al.* (2014): Accelerated HF-rTMS in treatment-resistant unipolar depression: Insights from subgenual anterior cingulate functional connectivity. *World J Biol Psychiatry* 15: 286–297.
- Weigand A, Horn A, Caballero R, Cooke D, Stern AP, Taylor SF, *et al.* (2018): Prospective Validation That Subgenual Connectivity Predicts Antidepressant Efficacy of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Sites. *Biol Psychiatry* 84: 28–37.
- McGrath CL, Kelley ME, Holtzheimer PE, Dunlop BW, Craighead WE, Franco AR, *et al.* (2013): Toward a neuroimaging treatment selection biomarker for major depressive disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* 70: 821–829.
- Iwabuchi SJ, Peng D, Fang Y, Jiang K, Liddle EB, Liddle PF, Palaniyappan L (2014): Alterations in effective connectivity anchored on the insula in major depressive disorder. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 24: 1784–1792.
- Iwabuchi SJ, Auer DP, Lankappa ST, Palaniyappan L (2019): Baseline effective connectivity predicts response to repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with treatment-resistant depression. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 29: 681– 690.
- Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Dolan RJ, Critchley HD (2009): Neural Origins of Human Sickness in Interoceptive Responses to Inflammation. *Biol Psychiatry* 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.03.007
- 11. Craig AD (2009, January): How do you feel now? The anterior insula and human awareness. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 10. pp 59–70.
- 12. Wiebking C, Bauer A, De Greck M, Duncan NW, Tempelmann C, Northoff G (2010): Abnormal body perception and neural activity in the insula in depression: An fMRI study of the depressed "material me." *World J Biol Psychiatry* 11. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622970903563794
- Wiebking C, de Greck M, Duncan NW, Tempelmann C, Bajbouj M, Northoff G (2015): Interoception in insula subregions as a possible state marker for depression—an exploratory fMRI study investigating healthy, depressed and remitted participants. *Front Behav Neurosci* 9.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00082

- Northoff G (2016): Spatiotemporal psychopathology I: No rest for the brain's resting state activity in depression? Spatiotemporal psychopathology of depressive symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.05.007
- Strawbridge R, Young AH, Cleare AJ (2018): Inflammation as a marker of clinical response to treatment: A focus on treatment-resistant depression. *Inflammation and Immunity in Depression: Basic Science and Clinical Applications*. Elsevier, pp 473– 487.
- Setiawan E, Wilson AA, Mizrahi R, Rusjan PM, Miler L, Rajkowska G, *et al.* (2015): Role of translocator protein density, a marker of neuroinflammation, in the brain during major depressive episodes. *JAMA Psychiatry* 72: 268–275.
- Setiawan E, Attwells S, Wilson AA, Mizrahi R, Rusjan PM, Miler L, *et al.* (2018): Association of translocator protein total distribution volume with duration of untreated major depressive disorder: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 5: 339–347.
- Richards EM, Zanotti-Fregonara P, Fujita M, Newman L, Farmer C, Ballard ED, *et al.* (2018): PET radioligand binding to translocator protein (TSPO) is increased in unmedicated depressed subjects. *EJNMMI Res* 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13550-018-0401-9
- Su L, Faluyi YO, Hong YT, Fryer TD, Mak E, Gabel S, *et al.* (2016, December 1): Neuroinflammatory and morphological changes in late-life depression: The NIMROD study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 209. Royal College of Psychiatrists, pp 525–526.
- 20. Szepesi Z, Manouchehrian O, Bachiller S, Deierborg T (2018, September 27): Bidirectional Microglia–Neuron Communication in Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 12. Frontiers Media S.A., p 323.
- Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009, May 1): Inflammation and Its Discontents: The Role of Cytokines in the Pathophysiology of Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 65. Biol Psychiatry, pp 732–741.
- 22. Miller AH, Raison CL (2016, January 1): The role of inflammation in depression: From evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 16. Nature Publishing Group, pp 22–34.
- 23. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD (2009): Inflammation Causes Mood Changes Through Alterations in Subgenual Cingulate Activity and Mesolimbic Connectivity. *Biol Psychiatry* 66: 407–414.
- Connolly CG, Wu J, Ho TC, Hoeft F, Wolkowitz O, Eisendrath S, *et al.* (2013): Resting-state functional connectivity of subgenual anterior cingulate cortex in depressed adolescents. *Biol Psychiatry* 74: 898–907.
- 25. Hamilton JP, Glover GH, Hsu JJ, Johnson RF, Gotlib IH (2011): Modulation of subgenual anterior cingulate cortex activity with real-time neurofeedback. *Hum Brain Mapp* 32: 22–31.
- 26. Philippi CL, Motzkin JC, Pujara MS, Koenigs M (2015): Subclinical depression severity is associated with distinct patterns of functional connectivity for subregions of anterior cingulate cortex. *J Psychiatr Res* 71: 103–111.
- 27. Wang C, Wu H, Chen F, Xu J, Li H, Li H, Wang J (2018): Disrupted functional connectivity patterns of the insula subregions in drug-free major depressive disorder.

J Affect Disord 234: 297–304.

- Sheline YI, Price JL, Yan Z, Mintun MA (2010): Resting-state functional MRI in depression unmasks increased connectivity between networks via the dorsal nexus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 11020–11025.
- 29. Cullen KR, Gee DG, Klimes-Dougan B, Gabbay V, Hulvershorn L, Mueller BA, *et al.* (2009): A preliminary study of functional connectivity in comorbid adolescent depression. *Neurosci Lett* 460: 227–231.
- Bubb EJ, Metzler-Baddeley C, Aggleton JP (2018, September 1): The cingulum bundle: Anatomy, function, and dysfunction. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 92. Elsevier Ltd, pp 104–127.
- 31. Schermuly I, Fellgiebel A, Wagner S, Yakushev I, Stoeter P, Schmitt R, *et al.* (2010): Association between cingulum bundle structure and cognitive performance: An observational study in major depression. *Eur Psychiatry* 25: 355–360.
- 32. Sapolsky RM (2001): Depression, antidepressants, and the shrinking hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 98. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.231475998
- 33. Zhou R, Chen J, Zhao G, Wang Z, Peng D, Xia W, et al. (2021): Neural biomarker of functional disability in major depressive disorder: A structural neuroimaging study. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry* 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2021.110337
- 34. Bhatia KD, Henderson LA, Hsu E, Yim M (2018): Reduced integrity of the uncinate fasciculus and cingulum in depression: A stem-by-stem analysis. *J Affect Disord* 235: 220–228.
- 35. Korgaonkar MS, Grieve SM, Koslow SH, Gabrieli JDE, Gordon E, Williams LM (2011): Loss of white matter integrity in major depressive disorder: Evidence using tract-based spatial statistical analysis of diffusion tensor imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp* 32: 2161–2171.
- 36. Bracht T, Linden D, Keedwell P (2015, November 15): A review of white matter microstructure alterations of pathways of the reward circuit in depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 187. Elsevier, pp 45–53.
- 37. Keedwell PA, Chapman R, Christiansen K, Richardson H, Evans J, Jones DK (2012): Cingulum white matter in young women at risk of depression: The effect of family history and anhedonia. *Biol Psychiatry* 72: 296–302.
- Cullen KR, Klimes-Dougan B, Muetzel R, Mueller BA, Camchong J, Houri A, *et al.* (2010): Altered White Matter Microstructure in Adolescents With Major Depression: A Preliminary Study. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 49: 173-183.e1.
- 39. De Diego-Adeliño J, Pires P, Gómez-Ansón B, Serra-Blasco M, Vives-Gilabert Y, Puigdemont D, *et al.* (2014): Microstructural white-matter abnormalities associated with treatment resistance, severity and duration of illness in major depression. *Psychol Med* 44: 1171–1182.
- 40. Henderson SE, Johnson AR, Vallejo AI, Katz L, Wong E, Gabbay V (2013): A preliminary study of white matter in adolescent depression: Relationships with illness severity, anhedonia, and irritability. *Front Psychiatry* 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00152
- 41. Taylor WD, Kudra K, Zhao Z, Steffens DC, Macfall JR (2014): Cingulum bundle white matter lesions influence antidepressant response in late-life depression: A pilot

study. J Affect Disord 162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.03.031

- 42. Howell B, Choi KS, Gunalan K, Rajendra J, Mayberg HS, McIntyre CC (2019): Quantifying the axonal pathways directly stimulated in therapeutic subcallosal cingulate deep brain stimulation. *Hum Brain Mapp* 40. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24419
- First MB (2015): Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM (SCID). The Encyclopedia of Clinical Psychology. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., pp 1–6.
- 44. Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, *et al.* (2005): The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 53: 695–699.
- 45. Beck AT, Steer RA, Ball R, Ranieri WF (1996): Comparison of Beck depression inventories -IA and -II in psychiatric outpatients. *J Pers Assess* 67: 588–597.
- 46. Busner J, Targum SD (2007): The clinical global impressions scale: applying a research tool in clinical practice. *Psychiatry* (*Edgmont*) 4: 28–37.
- 47. Hamilton M (1964): A Rating Scale for Depressive Disorders. *Psychol Rep* 14: 914–914.
- 48. Owen DR, Yeo AJ, Gunn RN, Song K, Wadsworth G, Lewis A, *et al.* (2012): An 18kDa Translocator Protein (TSPO) polymorphism explains differences in binding affinity of the PET radioligand PBR28. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 32: 1–5.
- 49. Wilson AA, Garcia A, Parkes J, McCormick P, Stephenson KA, Houle S, Vasdev N (2008): Radiosynthesis and initial evaluation of [18F]-FEPPA for PET imaging of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors. *Nucl Med Biol* 35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2007.12.009
- 50. Izquierdo-Garcia D, Hansen AE, Förster S, Benoit D, Schachoff S, Fürst S, *et al.* (2014): An SPM8-based approach for attenuation correction combining segmentation and nonrigid template formation: Application to simultaneous PET/MR Brain Imaging. *J Nucl Med* 55: 1825–1830.
- 51. Dahnke R, Yotter RA, Gaser C (2013): Cortical thickness and central surface estimation. *Neuroimage* 65: 336–348.
- 52. Gonzalez-Escamilla G, Lange C, Teipel S, Buchert R, Grothe MJ (2017): PETPVE12: an SPM toolbox for Partial Volume Effects correction in brain PET – Application to amyloid imaging with AV45-PET. *Neuroimage* 147: 669–677.
- 53. Ashburner J, Friston KJ (2005): Unified segmentation. Neuroimage 26: 839-851.
- 54. Poirier SE, Kwan BYM, Jurkiewicz MT, Samargandy L, Steven DA, Suller-Marti A, *et al.* (2020): 18F-FDG PET-guided diffusion tractography reveals white matter abnormalities around the epileptic focus in medically refractory epilepsy: implications for epilepsy surgical evaluation. *Eur J Hybrid Imaging* 4: 10.
- 55. Avants BB, Tustison NJ, Song G, Cook PA, Klein A, Gee JC (2011): A reproducible evaluation of ANTs similarity metric performance in brain image registration. *Neuroimage* 54: 2033–2044.
- 56. Hua K, Zhang J, Wakana S, Jiang H, Li X, Reich DS, *et al.* (2008): Tract probability maps in stereotaxic spaces: Analyses of white matter anatomy and tract-specific quantification. *Neuroimage* 39: 336–347.
- 57. Mac Donald CL, Dikranian K, Bayly P, Holtzman D, Brody D (2007): Diffusion tensor imaging reliably detects experimental traumatic axonal injury and indicates approximate time of injury. *J Neurosci* 27.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3647-07.2007

- 58. Baek SH, Park J, Kim YH, Seok HY, Oh KW, Kim HJ, et al. (2020): Usefulness of diffusion tensor imaging findings as biomarkers for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Sci Rep 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62049-0
- 59. Pasternak O, Westin CF, Bouix S, Seidman LJ, Goldstein JM, Woo TU, *et al.* (2012): Excessive extracellular volume reveals a neurodegenerative pattern in schizophrenia onset. *J Neurosci* 32: 17365–17372.
- 60. Donat CK, Scott G, Gentleman SM, Sastre M (2017): Microglial activation in traumatic brain injury. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, vol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00208
- Benusa SD, Lafrenaye AD (2020): Microglial process convergence on axonal segments in health and disease. *Neuroimmunol Neuroinflammation* 2020. https://doi.org/10.20517/2347-8659.2019.28
- 62. Colasanti A, Guo Q, Giannetti P, Wall MB, Newbould RD, Bishop C, *et al.* (2016): Hippocampal neuroinflammation, functional connectivity, and depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis. *Biol Psychiatry* 80: 62–72.
- 63. Felger JC, Li Z, Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Hu X, Miller AH (2016): Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. *Mol Psychiatry* 21: 1358–1365.
- 64. Chen P, Chen F, Chen G, Zhong S, Gong JY, Zhong H, *et al.* (2020): Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity of insula in unmedicated bipolar disorder. *Brain Behav Immun* 89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.004
- 65. Attwells S, Setiawan E, Rusjan PM, Xu C, Hutton C, Rafiei D, *et al.* (2020): Translocator Protein Distribution Volume Predicts Reduction of Symptoms During Open-Label Trial of Celecoxib in Major Depressive Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 88. Elsevier USA, pp 649–656.
- 66. Chen Z, Trapp BD (2016): Microglia and neuroprotection. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 136. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13062
- 67. Liu Y, Chen Y, Liang X, Li D, Zheng Y, Zhang H, et al. (2020): Altered Resting-State Functional Connectivity of Multiple Networks and Disrupted Correlation With Executive Function in Major Depressive Disorder. Front Neurol 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00272
- 68. Passamonti L, Tsvetanov KA, Jones PS, Bevan-Jones WR, Arnold R, Borchert RJ, *et al.* (2019): Neuroinflammation and Functional Connectivity in Alzheimer's Disease: Interactive Influences on Cognitive Performance. *J Neurosci* 39: 7218–7226.
- 69. Fan Z, Brooks DJ, Okello A, Edison P (2017): An early and late peak in microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease trajectory. *Brain* 140: aww349.
- 70. Burzynska AZ, Preuschhof C, Bäckman L, Nyberg L, Li SC, Lindenberger U, Heekeren HR (2010): Age-related differences in white matter microstructure: Region-specific patterns of diffusivity. *Neuroimage* 49: 2104–2112.
- 71. Madden DJ, Bennett IJ, Burzynska A, Potter GG, Chen N kuei, Song AW (2012, March 1): Diffusion tensor imaging of cerebral white matter integrity in cognitive aging. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease*, vol. 1822. Elsevier, pp 386–400.
- 72. Corona AW, Huang Y, O'Connor JC, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Popovich PG, Godbout JP (2010): Fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) deficiency sensitizes mice to the behavioral changes induced by lipopolysaccharide. *J Neuroinflammation* 7.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-7-93

- 73. Milior G, Lecours C, Samson L, Bisht K, Poggini S, Pagani F, *et al.* (2016): Fractalkine receptor deficiency impairs microglial and neuronal responsiveness to chronic stress. *Brain Behav Immun* 55: 114–125.
- 74. Hellwig S, Brioschi S, Dieni S, Frings L, Masuch A, Blank T, Biber K (2016): Altered microglia morphology and higher resilience to stress-induced depressionlike behavior in CX3CR1-deficient mice. *Brain Behav Immun* 55: 126–137.
- 75. Zhan Y, Paolicelli RC, Sforazzini F, Weinhard L, Bolasco G, Pagani F, *et al.* (2014): Deficient neuron-microglia signaling results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. *Nat Neurosci* 17: 400–406.
- 76. Yirmiya R, Rimmerman N, Reshef R (2015, October 1): Depression as a Microglial Disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, vol. 38. Elsevier Ltd, pp 637–658.
- 77. Pascual O, Achour S Ben, Rostaing P, Triller A, Bessis A (2012): Microglia activation triggers astrocyte-mediated modulation of excitatory neurotransmission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: E197.
- 78. Tremblay MĚ, Lowery RL, Majewska AK (2010): Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS Biol* 8: 1000527.
- 79. Rusjan PM, Wilson AA, Bloomfield PM, Vitcu I, Meyer JH, Houle S, Mizrahi R (2011, August): Quantitation of translocator protein binding in human brain with the novel radioligand 18 F-FEPPA and positron emission tomography. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 31. pp 1807–1816.
- 80. Ransohoff RM (2016, August 1): A polarizing question: Do M1 and M2 microglia exist. *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 19. Nature Publishing Group, pp 987–991.
- Bonsack F, Alleyne CH, Sukumari-Ramesh S (2016): Augmented expression of TSPO after intracerebral hemorrhage: A role in inflammation? *J Neuroinflammation* 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-016-0619-2
- Zammit M, Tao Y, Olsen ME, Metzger J, Vermilyea SC, Bjornson K, et al. (2020): [18F]FEPPA PET imaging for monitoring CD68-positive microglia/macrophage neuroinflammation in nonhuman primates. *EJNMMI Res* 10: 93.
- Nutma E, Stephenson JA, Gorter RP, De Bruin J, Boucherie DM, Donat CK, *et al.* (2019): A quantitative neuropathological assessment of translocator protein expression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 142: 3440–3455.
- 84. Narayanaswami V, Dahl K, Bernard-Gauthier V, Josephson L, Cumming P, Vasdev N (2018): Emerging PET Radiotracers and Targets for Imaging of Neuroinflammation in Neurodegenerative Diseases: Outlook Beyond TSPO. *Molecular Imaging*, vol. 17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536012118792317

# Chapter 3

## **3** Conclusions

#### 3.1 Summary

Throughout the current thesis we have aimed to understand the relationship between FEPPA-measured microglial activity and both functional and white matter connectivity in MDD as this has not been previously elucidated. We have concluded that (1) microglial activity from the left sgACC is significantly increased in MDD, (2) insular microglial activity is negatively associated with depression severity, (3) functional connectivity between the sgACC and insula is decreased in MDD, (4) microglial activity from the left sgACC is non-linearly related to functional connectivity and (5) white matter connectivity is linearly associated with microglial activity.

The diagnostic status-dependent differences in microglial activity and functional connectivity have been well-established in previous literature. The disparity in microglial activity between patients and controls reflects our current understanding of microglia as having an important role in depression symptomatology. The negative association between microglial activity and depression severity may be a post-treatment improvement in outcomes in those with higher neuroinflammation as our sample consisted of individuals receiving long-term treatment (1).

The double peaks in microglial activity in relation to functional connectivity may be the result of two microglial phenotypes of activation (2): a neurotoxic state which occurs in patients at the lowest extreme of functional connectivity, and a neuroprotective state in healthy controls which requires high microglial activity at optimal functional connectivity to maintain microglia-to-neuron crosstalk.

Increased AD of the cingulum bundle is associated with decreased microglial activity. When considering all DTI metrics (decreased FA and increased MD, AD, and RD with increasing microglial activity) together, it becomes apparent that the effect of microglial activity on white matter (or vice versa) is similar to age-related effects, possibly signalling white matter axonal degeneration (3,4).

#### **3.2 Significance**

MDD is a heterogeneous condition which cannot be fully explained at the time of this thesis. This makes finding the most effective treatment difficult, especially in those with TRD; in some cases, the most effective treatment has yet to be recognized as a viable option. MDD diagnosis is further complicated by age, through which we see distinct differences in those with MDD and those with LLD. These distinct differences have not been widely studied to date, contributing toward a large gap in knowledge. It becomes imperative that a better-cultivated understanding of MDD is acquired for development of novel treatments which are suited for specific subsets of depression. Considering this, the results of the current study are significant. We have further studied the specifics of microglial activity in depression and related this with functional and structural connectivity. This is completely novel as no other groups, to the best of our knowledge, have related microglial activity with both functional and structural outcomes in MDD. What is especially important about this development is that we are able to better understand the interplay between different brain systems, something which has not been done extensively in depression. These separate systems function in tandem to produce what we know as clinical depression, and while we know a great deal about each one, with limitations in current research methods, the ways in which they work together are relatively unknown.

Building on this further, current research has singled in on the ability of antiinflammatory agents to reduce severity of depression symptomatology. While at this moment anti-inflammatory agents and the phenomenon of neuroinflammation itself are nowhere near assiduously studied, their recent rise in research fascination has made our study apt for filling this gap in knowledge. It therefore becomes possible that antiinflammatory agents can be recognized as viable MDD adjuvant treatment options in the future. Understanding this relationship may lead to a breakthrough in the future of depression treatment – something which is sorely needed considering the current lack of novel options.

Our results are reflective of previous studies of Alzheimer's disease, further establishing a link between the two conditions. It has been previously found that those with late-life depression are at risk for dementia; since the microglial activity in our population reflects that of the decline into Alzheimer's, it may be that microglia play a pivotal role in disease progression, and likewise in the concurrent development of Alzheimer's. At this point this is speculation, but it illuminates a potential avenue for research into dementia prevention and treatment.

MDD is the leading cause of disability today. It affects one's productivity, one's mood, and can lead one to taking their own life. It is not limited in who it affects, being the second leading cause of death among young Canadians (5). Such an illness cannot be taken lightly and any advancements in our understanding of it can aid in improving and saving lives. The importance of this cannot be understated; depression is isolating and deadly and with additional research we get closer to exceeding the current limitations of treatment.

#### 3.3 Limitations

While the results shown are promising, as is the case with most studies they do not come without certain considerations. First and most glaringly, the sample size used in the current study is low. While our calculations of power do suggest that this sample size is enough to see significant differences, this is the absolute minimum. The choice in individuals within our sample is flawed as well. Those in the depressed cohort were not restricted based on their medications, and we cannot be sure what anti- or pro-inflammatory effects they may have. While the controls were age-matched (+/- 5 years), in later life such an age disparity can have a significant impact. As previously mentioned in Chapter 1, there are physical and symptomological differences between MDD and LLD. This can completely change how the illness presents itself and how it arises.

Secondly, the detection of microglial activity from TSPO in itself is challenging. TSPO expression is not limited to microglia, as it can be overexpressed in reactive astrocytes (6), withal in peripheral macrophages which may be able to cross the BBB to reach the brain (Dupont A.C. et al., 2017). It should be noted that levels of TSPO in astrocytes can become overexpressed during glutamate excitotoxicity, which may pose problems as glutamate excitotoxicity is posited to be a significant factor in depression outcome (7). But this worry seems to not be of great consequence, as the contribution of TSPO from microglia may be about 7x greater than that of astrocytes, and the contribution of TSPO from these astrocytes has not yet been found to make a significant contribution toward the PET image (8). Nonetheless, the specificity of TSPO PET tracers in microglial binding should be considered in the future.

Specificity of TSPO tracers to the type of microglial activation is another confounding factor. Microglia, previous to activation, are highly susceptible to environmental signals. Depending on the environment, when activated they can be described as either pro-inflammatory (M1) or anti-inflammatory (M2); the M2 state is thought to be less prevalent and can be activated by anti-inflammatory cytokines in addition to apoptotic cells and myelin debris, leading to tissue repair. The fact that it is possible for both of these responses to be active and that TSPO tracers seemingly do not distinguish between the two confounds interpretations of microglial activation. Moreover, the idea of concrete categories of microglial activity is shifting as it is theorized that the states exist in a continuum rather than a binary. It may also be that these TSPOradioligands measure microglial density rather than microglial activation (9).

Thirdly, the choice in radiotracers and study design seems especially important, as there is no single convincing answer to the direction of microglial activity in MDD. Each study uses a different TSPO tracer, and studies are able to both replicate and completely deny previous findings depending on the tracer used. Considering that FEPPA has a greater specificity to TSPO than many other radioligands, it can be assumed that studies using FEPPA are more reliable and accurate. The effectiveness of TSPO tracers is further questioned when considering which ones may

be impeded by MDD pathophysiology. A recent study by Turkheimer et al. found that in states of low-grade inflammation (in MDD and during inflammatory inducer injection in healthy individuals) uptake of TSPO tracers into CSF and brain parenchyma is decreased as compared to healthy controls due to a reduction in BBB permeability (10). It should be noted that the tracers used in this study were [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195 and [<sup>11</sup>C]PRB28, not FEPPA. [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195, while the first and most widely used TSPO radiotracer, has a short half-life and low signal to noise ratio due to high nonspecific binding and

lipophilicity, and may not reflect FEPPA activity. [<sup>11</sup>C]PRB28 presents much of the same issues as [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195 despite being an analogue to FEPPA.

In conjunction with the issues related to choice of TSPO tracer, another consideration in interpretation of these results is that TSPO tracer uptake increases with age. A study done by Kumar and colleagues in healthy children and adults (age range of adults 20-49) found that adults overall have increased uptake of [<sup>11</sup>C]PK11195 while the distribution of TSPO tracer is not altered between groups (11). Given the difference in age between our control group and our patient group (with controls being about 5 years older and more definitively in a LLD categorization), it may be that the difference we see in microglial activity between patients and controls is diminished by the disparity in age. It is known that increased inflammation is associated with older age, but the exact origin of such inflammation is not fully understood.

Finally, the choice of the reference region method of data normalization for the PET data is controversial. Reference regions must be picked carefully; they must have no significant differences in tracer uptake between patients and controls, and they must have relatively little TSPO tracer uptake. There exists no area of the brain with no tracer uptake, and as such there is no perfect reference region. A few reference regions have been validated in depression: the cerebellum is a common choice due to its large size, lending itself to greater stability. Reference regions are typically used as a simple alternative in the absence of arterial blood data. In the current study this data was not available, and we were unable to accurately model the tracer kinetics. Supervised cluster analysis methods are available to create supervised reference regions, but their development is time consuming.

### **3.4 Future Directions**

While we have found a connection between functional connectivity and neuroinflammation-related molecular activity in depression, this is only the beginning of fully understanding this relationship. Due to the limitations above, the results must be supported by future work and replicated by other groups in order to confirm their authenticity. In the future, it would be prudent to explore methods for absolute quantification of microglia that do not rely on reference region normalization. Absolute quantification of PET requires measurement of the input function – the time-dependent concentration of the PET tracer in blood plasma – to quantify the PET tracer concentration in tissue using tracer kinetic models. Although PET tracer kinetic modelling would allow for increased accuracy of PET measurements with fewer confounders, the need for serial arterial blood sampling makes this approach relatively invasive. Less invasive absolute quantification alternatives such as supervised cluster analysis would eliminate some of the issues associated with reference region-based normalization, as it uses a data-driven approach to identify the most suitable reference region.

As well, it would enrich the current findings if serum inflammatory biomarkers were measured as to indicate levels of whole-body inflammation. Peripheral inflammatory biomarkers have been linked with dysfunction in connectivity in MDD (12), so bringing all of these factors together would solidify our conclusions. An interesting finding was the relationship between microglial activity and functional connectivity and how this reflected previous results found in Alzheimer's disease.

Although our subjects were older, they were not fully at risk for Alzheimer's or other forms of dementia/cognitive impairment. This means it is possible that we are seeing a trend in microglial activity associated with age which may predict Alzheimer's prognosis. In the future it would be intriguing to explore whether there are subtypes of microglial activation in the years leading up to being at risk for dementia, and if this is related to factors such as stress exposure. In order to do so, a larger sample size would be needed, as well as longitudinal data.

Finally, we would be interested in relating the current findings to alternative imaging parameters, such as glutamate and glutathione, and in other brain regions, such as the striatum, in order to build a more cohesive story about depression as a whole.

#### 3.5 Concluding Remarks

The results of this thesis suggest that inflammation is critical in depression and its manifestation. It moderates the severity of depressed mood and can affect both functional

and structural connectivity; thus, evanescent inflammation may have a longstanding impact of mood changes, as seen in post-viral depressive episodes. These findings are reminiscent of previous dementia and aging studies, giving insight into the interplay between separate systems and how their interactions contribute to clinical diagnostic status at large. Our work opens the possibility of using less expensive, more accessible, and less invasive DTI/fMRI metrics as a measure of the effect of reducing inflammation to treat depression.

### **3.6 References**

- Attwells S, Setiawan E, Rusjan PM, Xu C, Hutton C, Rafiei D, *et al.* (2020): Translocator Protein Distribution Volume Predicts Reduction of Symptoms During Open-Label Trial of Celecoxib in Major Depressive Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 88. Elsevier USA, pp 649–656.
- 2. Fan Z, Brooks DJ, Okello A, Edison P (2017): An early and late peak in microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease trajectory. *Brain* 140: aww349.
- 3. Burzynska AZ, Preuschhof C, Bäckman L, Nyberg L, Li SC, Lindenberger U, Heekeren HR (2010): Age-related differences in white matter microstructure: Region-specific patterns of diffusivity. *Neuroimage* 49: 2104–2112.
- Madden DJ, Bennett IJ, Burzynska A, Potter GG, Chen N kuei, Song AW (2012, March 1): Diffusion tensor imaging of cerebral white matter integrity in cognitive aging. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease*, vol. 1822. Elsevier, pp 386–400.
- 5. Government of Canada (2008): Leading causes of death, Canada, 2008, males and females combined, counts (age-specific death rate per 100,000) - Canada.ca. Retrieved May 10, 2021, from https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/reports-publications/leading-causes-death-hospitalizationcanada/2008-males-females-combined-counts-specific-death-rate.html
- Lavisse S, Guillermier M, Hérard AS, Petit F, Delahaye M, Van Camp N V., *et al.* (2012): Reactive astrocytes overexpress TSPO and are detected by TSPO positron emission tomography imaging. *J Neurosci* 32. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1487-12.2012
- Mahmoud S, Gharagozloo M, Simard C, Gris D (2019): Astrocytes Maintain Glutamate Homeostasis in the CNS by Controlling the Balance between Glutamate Uptake and Release. *Cells* 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8020184
- Notter T, Schalbetter SM, Clifton NE, Mattei D, Richetto J, Thomas K, et al. (2020): Neuronal activity increases translocator protein (TSPO) levels. *Mol Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-020-0745-1
- Zammit M, Tao Y, Olsen ME, Metzger J, Vermilyea SC, Bjornson K, et al. (2020): [18F]FEPPA PET imaging for monitoring CD68-positive microglia/macrophage neuroinflammation in nonhuman primates. *EJNMMI Res* 10: 93.
- Turkheimer FE, Althubaity N, Schubert J, Nettis MA, Cousins O, Dima D, *et al.* (2020): Increased serum peripheral C-reactive protein is associated with reduced brain barriers permeability of TSPO radioligands in healthy volunteers and depressed patients: implications for inflammation and depression. *Brain Behav Immun.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.10.025
- 11. Kumar A, Muzik O, Shandal V, Chugani D, Chakraborty P, Chugani HT (2012): Evaluation of age-related changes in translocator protein (TSPO) in human brain using 11C-[R]-PK11195 PET. *J Neuroinflammation* 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-232
- 12. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009, May 1): Inflammation and Its Discontents: The Role of Cytokines in the Pathophysiology of Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 65. Biol Psychiatry, pp 732–741.

# **Appendix A Ethics Approval**



Date: 22 May 2019

To: Dr. Lena Palaniyappan

Project ID: 108342

Study Title: Molecular Imaging of Brain Inflammation in Depressive Disorders

Application Type: Continuing Ethics Review (CER) Form

Review Type: Delegated

REB Meeting Date: 04/Jun/2019

Date Approval Issued: 22/May/2019

REB Approval Expiry Date: 12/Jun/2020

Dear Dr. Lena Palaniyappan,

The Western University Research Ethics Board has reviewed the application. This study, including all currently approved documents, has been re-approved until the expiry date noted above.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

Western University REB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations; Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations; Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The REB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Daniel Wyzynski, Research Ethics Coordinator, on behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations).

# **Appendix B Clinical Evaluation**

REB 10012862

APPENDIX D

1

**Comprehensive Clinical Assessment:** 

Date of initial assessment:

Patient Number (unique study ID, not hospital number):

Assessor(s): 1. 2.

Section 1. Current Medications:

Allergies:

#### Psychotropic Medications

Medication	Dose	Duration-months

#### Physical Health Medications

Medication	Dose	Duration-months

#### APPENDIX D

2

#### MEDICAL HISTORY: Known Medical Conditions:

#### Section 2. PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY

First onset of depression: Month ---- (if available)/ Year -----Course of depression

- Severe with suicidality (Yes/No); Psychosis (Yes/No);
   Requiring hospitalization (Yes/No)
   Full interepisode recovery (Yes/No)

- Complicated by
  - Substance use (Y/N) Name of the street drug: \_\_\_\_\_
     Alcohol (Y/N)
  - Other psychiatric diagnoses: \_\_\_\_\_\_
- PRE MORBID PERSONALITY

#### APPENDIX D

3

#### SUBSTANCE USE:

Description	Smoking	Alcohol	Cannabis	Others
How long				
Total amount per day				
Past Withdrawal symptoms				
Ever attempted to stop				
Ever had treatment				
Current motivation:				
Is this habit problematic				

#### Section 3. General Physical Examination:

Height		Weight	BMI	
Pulse:	BP:	Handedness:	RR:	Temp:

VISUOSPATIAL / E End 5 1 Begin D	(A) (B) (2) (4) (3)			Copy cube	Draw CLOCK (3 points)	(Ten past eleven)	POINTS
	[]			[]	[] Contour N	[] [] lumbers Hands	_/5
NAMING							_/3
MEMORY repeat them. Do 2 trial Do a recall after 5 minu	Read list of words, subject s, even if 1st trial is successful. utes.	t must 1st trial 2nd trial	FACE	VELVET	CHURCH	DAISY RED	No points
ATTENTION	Read list of digits (1 digit/	sec.). Subject h Subject h	as to repeat the	em in the for em in the ba	rward order ckward order	[]21854 []742	_/2
Read list of letters. The	subject must tap with his h	and at each letter A.	Nopoints if ≥ FBACMN	2 errors I A A J K L E	BAFAKDEA	AAJAMOFAAB	_/1
Serial 7 subtraction sta	arting at 100 [	] 93 [ 4 or 5 corre	86 86 86	[] 79 3 pts, 2 or 3 of	[ ] 72	[ ] 65 prrect: 1 pt,0 correct: 0 pt	_/3
LANGUAGE	Repeat : I only know that The cat always	John is the one to he hid under the couch	lp today. [ ] when dogs we	ere in the roo	m.[]		_/2
Fluency / Name	maximum number of words	in one minute that b	egin with the k	etter F	[].	(N ≥ 11 words)	_/1
ABSTRACTION	Similarity between e.g. bar	nana - orange = fruit	[ ] trai	in – bicycle	[ ] watch -	ruler	_/2
DELAYED RECALL	Has to recall words WITH NO CUE	FACE VEL	VET CHU	JRCH D/ ] [	AISY RED	Points for UNCUED recall only	_/5
Optional	Category cue Multiple choice cue					-	
ORIENTATION	[ ] Date [ ]	Month []	Year	[]Day	[ ] Plac	e []City	_/6
© Z.Nasreddine MI Administered by:		www.mocates	st.org	Normal 3	≥26 / 30 TO	ĨAL Add 1 point if ≤12 yred	_/30

Section 4. MONTREAL COGNITIVE ASSESSMENT (MOCA)

Version 1.0 July 23rd, 2016-07-10

4

#### APPENDIX D

#### Section 5.: Clinical Global Impression (CGI)

**1. Severity of illness** Considering your total clinical experience with this particular population, how mentally ill is the patient at this time?

0 = Not assessed	4 = Moderately ill
1 = Normal, not at all ill	5 = Markedly ill
2 = Borderline mentally ill	6 = Severely ill
3 = Mildly ill	7 = Among the most extremely ill patients

#### Section 6. Beck Depression Inventory

A (M	ood)	B (Pessimism)
0	I do not feel sad	0 I am not particularly discouraged about the
1	I feel sad	future
2a	. I am blue or sad all the time and I	<ol> <li>a. I feel discouraged about the future</li> </ol>
	can't snap out of it	2 a. I feel I have nothing to look forward to
21	b. I am so sad or unhappy that it is very	b. I feel that I wont ever get over my
	painful	troubles
3	I am so sad / unhappy that I can't stand it	3 I feel the future is hopeless and that things
		cannot improve
		-
C (Ser	nse of failure)	D (Lack of satisfaction)
0	I don't feel like a failure	0 I am not particularly dissatisfied
1	I feel I have failed more than average	<ol> <li>a. I feel bored most of the time</li> </ol>
	person	b. I don't enjoy things the way I used to
2	a. I feel I have accomplished very little that	2 I don't get real satisfaction out of anything
	is worthwhile or that means anything	any more
	b. As I look back on my life all I can see is	3 I am dissatisfied or bored with everything
	a lot of failure	
3	I feel I am a complete failure as a person	
	(parent, husband, wife)	
E (C	-114	E (Barras of anni-harras t)
F (G	Litering)	F (Sense of punishment)
0	I don't reel particularly guilty	0 I don't feel I am being punished
1	I feel bad or unworthy a good part of the	1 I have a reening that something bad may
	time	happen to me
2	a. I feel quite guilty	2 I feel I am being punished or will be
	b. I feel bad or unworthy practically all the	2 a L feel L deserved to be punished
2	Line now	b I want to be punished
3	I feel as through I am very bad of worthless	b. I want to be pullished
G (Se	If hate)	H (Self accusations)
0	I don't feel disappointed in myself	0 I don't feel I am any worse than anybody
1	a. I am disappointed in myself	else
	b. I don't like myself	1 I am very critical of myself for my
2	I am disgusted with myself	weaknesses or mistakes
3	I hate myself	2 a. I blame myself for everything that goes
		wrong
		b. I feel I have many bad faults
1		

#### APPENDIX D

т	(6.1	f nunitivo wichos)	т		ming spalle)
•	0	I don't have nay thoughts of harming	1	6	I don't cry anymore than usual
	-	myself		1	I cry more than I used to
	1	I have thoughts of harming myself but I		2	I cry all the time now I cant stop it
		would not carry them out		3	I used to be able to cry but now I can't cry
	2	a. I feel I would be better off dead			at all even though I want to
		b. I have definite plans about committing			ũ
		suicide			
		c. I feel my family would be better off if I			
		were dead			
	3	I would kill myself if I could			
к	(Ir	ritability)	L	(8	ocial withdrawal)
	1	I am no more irritated now than I ever am			I have not lost interest in other people
	1	I get annoyed or irritated more easily than I			I am less interested in other people now
	2	L feel irritated all the time			L have lost most of my interact in other
	2	I don't get irritated at all at the tings that		4	paopla and have little feeling for them
	5	used to irritate me		-	I have lost all my interest in other people
		used to inflate life		-	and don't care about them at all
					and don't care about mem at an
М	(In	decisiveness)	N	(H	Body Image)
	0	I make decisions as well as ever		0	I don't feel that I look any worse than I used
	1	I am less sure of myself now and try to put			to
		of making decisions		1	I am worried that I am looking old or
	2	I can't make decisions any more without			unattractive
		help		- 2	2 I feel there are permanent changes in my
	3	I can't make any decisions at all any more			appearance that make me look unattractive
				3	I feel that I am ugly or repulsive looking
0	(W	ork inhibition)	Р	C	Sleen disturbance)
-	0	I can work about as well as before	-	ò	I can sleep as well as usual
	1	a. It takes an extra effort to get started at		1	I wake up more tired in the morning than I
		doing something			used to
		b. I don't work as well as I used to		- 2	I wake up 1-2 hours earlier than usual and
	2	I have to push myself very hard to do			find it hard to get back to sleep
		anything		3	I wake up early every day and cant get
	3	I can't do any work at all			more than 5 hours sleep
0	(F-	atigability)	P	a	oss of appetite)
Y	0	I don't get any more tired than usual	<sup>K</sup>	_u	My appetite is no worse than usual
	ĩ	I get tired more easily than I used to		1	My appetite is not as good as it used to be
	2	I get tired from doing almost anything		- 5	My appetite is much worse now
	3	I get too tired to do anything		3	I have no appetite at all anymore
	-	I get too thee to us unjuning		-	i nuve no appente at an anymore
s	(W	eight loss)	T	(	Somatic preoccupation)
	0	I haven't lost much weight, if any, lately		(	I am no more worried about my health than
	1	I have lost more than five pounds			usual
	2	I have lost more than ten pounds		1	I am concerned about aches and pains or
	3	I have lost more than fifteen pounds			upset stomach or constipation or other
		-			unpleasant feelings in my body
				2	I am so concerned with how I feel or what I
					feel that it's hard to think of much else
				- 3	I am completely absorbed in what I feel

Version 1.0 July 23rd, 2016-07-10

#### 6

#### APPENDIX D

J (Lo	ss of l1ibido)
0	I have not noticed any recent change in my
	interest in sex
1	I am less interested in sex than I used to be
2	I am much less interested in sex now
3	I have lost interest in sex completely
	1 (Lo 0 1 2 3

## Section 7. Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS)

<ol> <li>DEPRESSED MOOD(sadness, hopeless, helpless, worthless)</li> <li>□   These feeling states indicated only on questioning.</li> <li>□ These feeling states spontaneously reported verbally.</li> <li>□ Communicates feeling states nonverbally, i.e. through facial expression, posture, voice and tendency to weep.</li> <li>↓ Patient reports virtually only these feeling states in his/her spontaneous verbal and non-verbal communication.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>10 ANXIETY PSYCHIC</li> <li>0 No difficulty.</li> <li>1 Subjective tension and irritability.</li> <li>2 Worrying about minor matters.</li> <li>3 Apprehensive attitude apparent in face or speech.</li> <li>4 Fears expressed without questioning.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>2 FEELINGS OF GUILT</li> <li>0 Absent.</li> <li>1 Self reproach, feels he/she has let people down.</li> <li>2 Ideas of guilt or rumination over past errors or sinful deeds.</li> <li>3 Present illness is a punishment. Delusions of guilt.</li> <li>4 Hears accusatory or denunciatory voices and/or experiences threatening visual hallucinations</li> </ul>	11 ANXIETY SOMATIC (physiological concomitants of anxiety) such as:         gastro-intestinal – dry mouth, wind, indigestion, diarrhea, cramps, belching         cardio-vascular – palpitations, headaches         respiratory – hyperventilation, sighing         urinary frequency sweating         0 Absent.         1 Mild.         2 Moderate.         3 Severe.         4 Incapacitating
<ul> <li>3 SUICIDE</li> <li>0 ∟ Absent.</li> <li>1 ⊨ Feels life is not worth living.</li> <li>2 ∟ Wishes he/she were dead or any thoughts of possible death to self.</li> <li>3 ⊥ Ideas or gestures of suicide.</li> <li>4 ∟ Attempts at suicide (any serious attempt rate 4).</li> </ul>	12 SOMATIC SYMPTOMS GASTRO-INTESTINAL 0 \ None. 1 \ Loss of appetite but eating without staff encouragement. Heavy feelings in abdomen. 2 \ Difficulty eating without staff urging. Requests or requires laxatives or medication for bowels or medication for gastro-intestinal symptoms.
<ul> <li>4 INSOMNIA: EARLY IN THE NIGHT</li> <li>0 No difficulty falling asleep.</li> <li>1 Complains of occasional difficulty falling asleep, i.e.more than 1/2 hour.</li> <li>2 Complains of nightly difficulty falling asleep.</li> </ul>	13 GENERAL SOMATIC SYMPTOMS 0None. 1Heaviness in limbs, back or head. Backaches, headaches, muscle aches, loss of energy and fatigability. 2Any clear-cut symptom rates 2.

#### APPENDIX D

<ul> <li>5 INSOMNIA: MIDDLE OF THE NIGHT</li> <li>□ No difficulty.</li> <li>1 □ Patient complains of being restless and disturbed during the night.</li> <li>2 □ Waking during the night – any getting out of bed rates.</li> <li>2 (except for purposes of voiding).</li> </ul>	14 GENITAL SYMPTOMS (symptoms such as loss of libido, menstrual disturbances)           0 Absent.           1Mid.           2 Severe.
6 INSOMNIA: EARLY HOURS OF THE MORNING     0 No difficulty.     1 Waking in early hours of the morning but goes back to sleep.     2 Unable to fall asleep again if he/she gets out of bed.     EVENUE AND A STUDIENCE	15 HYPOCHONDRIASIS         0
<ul> <li>7 WORK AND ACTIVITIES</li> <li>0      No difficulty.</li> <li>1 Thoughts and feelings of incapacity, fatigue or weakness related to activities, work or hobbies.</li> <li>2      Loss of interest in activity, hobbies or work – either directly reported by the patient or indirect in listlessness, indecision and vacillation (feels he/she has to push self to work or activities).</li> <li>3      Decrease in actual time spent in activities or decrease in productivity. Rate 3 if the patient does not spend at least three hours a day in activities (job or hobbies excluding routine chores.</li> <li>4      Stopped working because of present illness. Rate 4 if patient engages in no activities except routine chores, or if patient fails to perform routine chores unassisted</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>16 LOSS OF WEIGHT (RATE EITHER a OR b)</li> <li>a. When Rating by History:</li> <li>0No weight loss</li> <li>1Probable weight loss associated with present illness</li> <li>2Definite (according to patient) weight loss</li> <li>b. On weekly ratings by ward psychiatrist, when actual changes are measured:</li> <li>0ILess than 1 lb. weight loss in week</li> <li>1Greater than 1 lb. weight loss in week</li> <li>2Greater than 2 lb. weight loss in week</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>8 RETARDATION(slowness of thought and speech, impaired ability to concentrate, decreased motor activity)</li> <li>0 □ Normal speech and thought.</li> <li>1 □ Slight retardation during the interview.</li> <li>2 □ Obvious retardation during the interview.</li> <li>3 □ Interview difficult.</li> <li>4 □ Complete stupor.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>17 INSIGHT</li> <li>0 Acknowledges being depressed and ill.</li> <li>1 Acknowledges illness but attributes cause to bad food, climate, overwork, virus, need for rest, etc.</li> <li>2 Denies being ill at all.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>9 AGITATION</li> <li>0 None.</li> <li>1 Fidgetiness.</li> <li>2 Playing with hands, hair, etc.</li> <li>3 Moving about, can't sit still.</li> <li>4 Hand wringing, nail biting, hair-pulling, biting of lips.</li> </ul>	Total score:

# **Curriculum Vitae**

Name	Jasmine Deniz Cakmak
Post-secondary Education and Degrees	Honours BSc in Biomedical Science University of Ottawa Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 2015-2019
	MSc Candidate in Neuroscience The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2019-present
Honours and Awards	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2019-2021
	Dean's Honour Roll 2018-2019
	University of Ottawa Entrance Scholarship 2015
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2019-2021
Publications	<b>Cakmak, Jasmine D.</b> et al. 2021. The functional and structural consequences of aberrant microglial activity in major depressive disorder. <i>J Psychiatry Neurosci. Submitted</i> .
	Cakmak, Sabit; Hebbern, Chris; <b>Cakmak, Jasmine D;</b> Dales, Robert E. 2017. The influence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on lung function in a representative sample of the Canadian population. <i>Environmental Pollution 228:1-7</i> <i>DOI. 10.1016/j.envpol.2017.05.013</i>
	Cakmak, Sabit; Hebbern, Christopher; <b>Cakmak, Jasmine</b> <b>D</b> ; Vanos, Jennifer. 2016. The modifying effect of socioeconomic status on the relationship between traffic, air pollution and respiratory health in elementary schoolchildren <i>Journal of environmental</i> <i>management 177:1-8</i>